SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION EDGAR FILING

PICO HOLDINGS INC /NEW

Form: 10-K
Date Filed: 2020-03-13

Corporate Issuer CIK: 830122

© Copyright 2020, Issuer Direct Corporation. All Right Reserved. Distribution of this document is strictly prohibited, subject to the terms of use.

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
_____________________
FORM 10-K
ý ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
OR
❑ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from _____ to _____
Commission file number 033-36383
PICO HOLDINGS, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware
(State or other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or
Organization)

94-2723335
(IRS Employer Identification No.)
3480 GS Richards Blvd., Suite 101, Carson City, Nevada 89703
(Address of Principal Executive Offices, including Zip Code)
Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code
(775) 885-5000
Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class

Trading Symbol(s)

Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par Value $0.001

PICO

Nasdaq Stock Market, LLC

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined by Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes ❑ No ý
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes❑ No ý
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ý No ❑
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ý No ❑
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See definition of
“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company, ” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (check one):
Large accelerated filer ❑

Accelerated filer ý

Non-accelerated filer ❑

Smaller reporting company ý

Non-accelerated filer ❑

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards
provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ❑
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12-b of the Act). Yes
❑ No ý
At June 28, 2019, the aggregate market value of shares of the registrant’s common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant (based upon the closing sale price of such shares on the Nasdaq Global
Select Market on June 28, 2019) was $202.9 million, which excludes shares of common stock held in treasury and shares held by executive officers, directors, and stockholders whose ownership
exceeds 10% of the registrant’s common stock outstanding at June 28, 2019. This calculation does not reflect a determination that such persons are deemed to be affiliates for any other purposes.
On February 27, 2020, the registrant had 19,636,078 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value, outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with the
registrant’s 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed subsequent to the date hereof, are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page No.
PART I
Item 1.
Item 1A.
Item 1B.
Item 2.
Item 3.
Item 4.

BUSINESS
RISK FACTORS
UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
PROPERTIES
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

3
10
17
17
17
18

Item 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

19

Item 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

20

Item 8.
Item 9.
Item 9A.
Item 9B.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
OTHER INFORMATION

28
53
53
55

Item 10.
Item 11.
Item 12.
Item 13.
Item 14.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Item 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

56

SIGNATURES

58

PART II

PART III
55
55
55
55
55

PART IV

2

PART I
Note About “Forward-Looking Statements”
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”)
contains “forward-looking statements,” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, regarding our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and prospects, including, without limitation, statements about our expectations, beliefs, intentions, anticipated
developments, and other information concerning future matters. Words such as “may”, “will”, “could”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”,
“believes”, “seeks”, “estimates”, and similar expressions or variations of such words are intended to identify forward-looking statements, but are not
the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Although forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect the good faith judgment of our management, such statements
can only be based on current expectations and assumptions and are not guarantees of future performance. Consequently, forward-looking
statements are inherently subject to risk and uncertainties, and the actual results and outcomes could differ materially from future results and
outcomes expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences in results and
outcomes include, without limitation, those discussed under Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors”, as well as those discussed elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and in other filings we may make from time to time with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) after
the date of this report. Readers are urged not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to (and we expressly disclaim any obligation to) revise or update any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, subsequent events, or otherwise, in order to reflect any event or circumstance that may arise
after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless otherwise required by law. Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the various
disclosures made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the other filings we may make from time to time with the SEC after the date of this report,
which attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and uncertainties that may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
prospects.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Introduction
PICO Holdings, Inc. is a holding company incorporated in 1981. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, PICO and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
“PICO,” the “Company,” or by words such as “we,” “us,” and “our.” Our business is primarily operated through our wholly owned subsidiary, Vidler Water
Company, Inc. (“Vidler”).
Our objective is to maximize long-term shareholder value. Currently, we believe the highest potential return to our shareholders is from a return of capital. As
we monetize assets, rather than reinvest the proceeds, we intend to return capital back to shareholders through a stock repurchase program or by other means
such as special dividends. Nonetheless, we may, from time to time, reinvest a portion of proceeds from asset monetizations in further development of existing
assets, if we believe the returns on such reinvestment outweigh the benefits of a return of capital.
Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and, if applicable, amendments to those reports, are
made available free of charge on our web site (www.picoholdings.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports are electronically filed with or
furnished to the SEC. Our website also contains other material about our Company. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Our corporate office is located at 3480 GS Richards Blvd., Suite 101, Carson City, Nevada 89703, and our telephone number is (775)
885-5000.
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Additional information regarding the performance of and recent developments in our operating segments is included in Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Our Business
We are primarily focused on monetizing, and further developing if necessary, our existing water rights and storage credits that we own in Arizona, Colorado,
Nevada and New Mexico. The long-term future demand for our existing water assets is driven by population and economic growth relative to currently available
water supplies in the southwestern United States. We have developed sources of water for municipal and industrial use, either from existing supplies of water,
such as water used for agricultural purposes, acquired unappropriated (previously unused) water, or discovered new water sources based on science and
targeted exploration. We are not a water utility, and do not currently intend to enter into regulated utility activities.
A water right is the legal right to divert water and put it to beneficial use. Water rights are real property rights which can be bought and sold and are
commonly measured in acre-feet (“AF”), which is a measure of the volume of water required to cover an area of one acre to a depth of one foot and is equal to
325,850 gallons. The value of a water right depends on a number of factors, which may include location, the seniority of the right, whether or not the right is
transferable, or if the water can be moved from one location to another. We believe we have purchased water rights at prices consistent with their then current
use, which was typically agricultural in nature, with the expectation that the value would increase as we converted the water rights through the development
process to a higher use, such as municipal and industrial use. We acquired and developed water resources with the expectation that they would be the most, or
one of the most, competitive sources of water (the most economical source of water supply) to support new growth in municipalities or new commercial and
industrial projects.
The population growth of the states where we own water rights and storage credits continues to exceed the national growth rate, collectively and individually,
with the exception of New Mexico. According to the Census Bureau’s estimate of state population changes for the period April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2019, Nevada’s
growth rate was 14.1%, Arizona was 13.9%, Colorado was 14.5%, and New Mexico was 1.8%. These population growth statistics compare to the national total
growth rate of 6.3% over the same period.
Historically, a significant portion of the Southwest’s water supplies have come from the Colorado River. The balance is provided by other surface rights, such
as rivers and lakes, groundwater (water pumped from underground aquifers), and water previously stored in reservoirs or aquifers. Prolonged droughts
(decreased snow pack runoff and the related decreased surface water) and rapid population growth in the past twenty years have reduced sustainable water
supplies and exacerbated the region’s general water scarcity.
In December 2012, the U.S. Department of the Interior released a report titled: The Colorado River Basin Water Supply and Demand Study , examining the
future water demands on the Colorado River Basin. The report projects water supply and demand imbalances throughout the Colorado River Basin and adjacent
areas over the next 50 years. The average imbalance in future supply and demand is projected to be greater than 3.2 million acre-feet per year by 2060. The
study projects that the largest increase in demand will come from municipal and industrial users as a result of population growth. The Colorado River Basin
currently provides water to approximately 40 million people, and the study estimates that this population could nearly double to approximately 76.5 million people
by 2060, under a rapid growth scenario.
Certain areas of the Southwest confronting long-term growth have insufficient known supplies of water to support their future economic and population
growth. The inefficient allocation of available water between agricultural users and municipal or industrial users, the lack of available known water supplies in a
particular location, or inadequate infrastructure to fully utilize or store existing and new water supplies provide opportunities for us to apply our water resource
development expertise.
The development of our water assets requires significant capital and expertise. A complete project, from acquisition, through development, permitting, and
sale is typically a long-term endeavor. In the regions in which we operate, new housing and commercial and industrial developments require an assured, or
sustainable, water supply (for example, in Arizona, access to water supplies for at least 100 years is required) before a permit for the development will be issued.
We have acquired or developed water rights and water related assets in Arizona, California, Idaho, Nevada, Colorado, and New Mexico. We also developed
and operate our own water storage facility near Phoenix, Arizona, utilize water storage capacity operated by third parties in Arizona, and “bank,” or store water
for future growth with municipalities in Nevada and New Mexico.
We have also entered into “teaming” and joint resource development arrangements with third parties who have water assets but lack the capital or expertise
to commercially develop these assets. The first of these arrangements was a water delivery teaming agreement in southern Nevada with the Lincoln County
Water District (“Lincoln/Vidler”), which is developing water resources in Lincoln County, Nevada. In northwestern Nevada, we have also entered into a joint
development agreement with Carson City and Lyon County, Nevada to develop and provide water resources in Lyon County as well as a water banking
agreement with Truckee Meadows Water Authority in Reno, Nevada.
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We generate revenues by:
•
•
•
•

selling our developed water rights to real estate developers, power generating facilities or other commercial and industrial users who must secure rights
to an assured, or sustainable, supply of water in order to receive permits for their development projects;
selling our developed water rights to water utilities, municipalities, or other government agencies for their specific needs, including to support population
and economic growth;
selling our stored water to state agencies, commercial developers, or municipalities that have either exhausted their existing water supplies or require
reserves for future water obligations, or, in instances where our water represents the most economical source of water, for their commercial projects or
communities; and
entitling, leasing, and selling of our water and land.

We owned the following significant water resources and water storage assets at December 31, 2019:
Fish Springs Ranch
We own a 51% membership interest in, and are the managing partner of, Fish Springs Ranch, LLC (“FSR”), which owns the Fish Springs Ranch and other
properties totaling approximately 7,310 acres in Honey Lake Valley in Washoe County, Nevada approximately 40 miles north of Reno, Nevada. FSR also owns
approximately 12,773 acre-feet of permitted water rights related to the properties of which 7,773 acre-feet are designated as water credits, transferable to other
areas within Washoe County (such as Reno and Sparks) to support community development. Although the additional 5,000 AF has been approved and permitted
by the Nevada State Engineer, existing federal rights of way will need to be updated before such water is transferable. To date, we have funded all of the
operational expenses, development, and construction costs incurred in this partnership. Certain of the development and construction costs are treated as
preferred capital under the partnership agreement which, among other things, entitles us to receive interest on the initial balance of the preferred capital and the
accumulated interest at the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 450 basis points. The preferred capital and accumulated interest are first in line to be
paid out as the partnership generates sufficient revenue. At December 31, 2019, the balance in the preferred capital account, including $95.6 million of accrued
interest, was $190.2 million and the associated interest rate was 6.41%.
In July 2008, we completed construction of and dedicated our pipeline and associated infrastructure to Washoe County, Nevada under the terms of an
Infrastructure Dedication Agreement (“IDA”) between Washoe County and FSR. Under the provisions of the IDA, Washoe County is responsible for the operation
and maintenance of the pipeline, and we own the exclusive right to the capacity of the pipeline to allow for the sale of water for future economic development in
the north valleys area of Reno. As of December 31, 2019, our remaining 7,773 acre-feet of water that has regulatory approval to be imported to the north valleys
of Reno is available for sale under a Water Banking Trust Agreement entered into between FSR and Washoe County. Under the Water Banking Trust
Agreement, Washoe County holds our water rights in trust. We can sell our water credits to developers, who must then dedicate the water to the local water utility
for service. In December 2014, Washoe County Water Utilities merged with the Truckee Meadows Water Authority (“TMWA”), consolidating water supply service
in Washoe County. Also effective at the end of 2014, FSR, Washoe County, and TMWA consented to the assignment of the Water Banking Trust Agreement and
the IDA to the Truckee Meadows Water Authority.
The property is a working ranch and is comprised of 7,310 acres of land owned by us and approximately 180,000 acres of a Bureau of Land Management
grazing allotment. The land and allotment are currently leased to a cattle company for grazing. The ranch also grows alfalfa, hay and grass that is sold to cattle
operators, dairies and feed stores. In addition, we have entered into an option agreement with a solar company to lease up to 2,600 acres for solar panels and
battery storage at $400 per acre, escalated at 2% per annum over a 26-year term with two additional 5-year extensions.
Carson/Lyon
The capital of Nevada, Carson City, and Lyon County are located in the northwestern part of the state, close to Lake Tahoe and the border with California.
While Carson City’s housing growth has been and is expected to be minimal due to land constraints, there is planned growth for the Dayton corridor, directly east
of Carson City. The planned growth in this area is anticipated to be driven by the employment growth at the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center (“TRIC”) and the
completion of the extension of the USA Parkway which connects Interstate route 80 to TRIC and to U.S. route 50 near Silver Springs, Lyon County. There are
currently few existing water sources to support future growth and development in the Dayton corridor area. We continue to work with Carson City and Lyon
County on ways to deliver water to support this expected growth.
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We have development and improvement agreements with both Carson City and Lyon County to provide water resources for planned future growth in Lyon
County and to connect, or “intertie,” the municipal water systems of Carson City and Lyon County. The agreements allow for certain river water rights owned or
controlled by us to be conveyed for use in Lyon County. The agreements also allow us to bank water with Lyon County and authorize us to build the infrastructure
to upgrade and inter-connect the Carson City and Lyon County water systems.
We own or control, by means of option agreements, water rights consisting of both Carson River agriculture designated water rights and certain municipal
and industrial designated water rights. We anticipate that we will have up to approximately 4,192 acre-feet available for municipal/industrial use in Lyon County
for future development, if demand occurs, principally by means of delivery through the infrastructure we constructed.
Vidler Arizona Recharge Facility
We built and received the necessary permits to operate a full-scale water “recharge” facility that allowed us to bank water underground in the Harquahala
Valley, Arizona. “Recharge” is the process of placing water into storage underground. When needed, the water will be “recovered,” or removed from storage,
through groundwater wells. Under Arizona Law this stored water creates a long-term storage credit (“LTSC”). The Arizona Department of Water Resources
tracks and documents the LTSCs stored throughout Arizona.
We recharged Colorado River water at this facility, which is a primary source of water for the Lower Basin States of Arizona, California, and Nevada. The
water storage facility is strategically located adjacent to the Central Arizona Project (“CAP”) aqueduct, a conveyance canal running from Lake Havasu to Phoenix
and Tucson. Our recharged water was purchased from surplus flows of CAP water. Proximity to the CAP aqueduct provides a competitive advantage as it
minimizes the cost of water conveyance of our LTSCs.
Potential users include industrial companies, power-generating companies, developers, and local governmental political subdivisions in Arizona, including
municipalities and incorporated areas, and out-of-state users such as municipalities and water agencies in Nevada and California. The Arizona Water Banking
Authority (“AWBA”) has the responsibility for intrastate and interstate storage of water for governmental entities. To date, we have not stored water at the facility
for any third party and there is no longer excess water which can be banked.
While Arizona was the only southwestern state with surplus flows of Colorado River water available for storage, there is no surplus flows available to us as
drought conditions have reduced the flow of the Colorado River and other water users have fully utilized their water allocations. In the future, we do not
anticipate purchasing and storing surplus flows of Colorado River water, and we have discontinued using the recharge element of the storage site. At
December 31, 2019, we had LTSCs of approximately 250,682 acre-feet of water in storage at the facility.
Phoenix AMA Water Storage
As of December 31, 2019, we owned approximately 28,350 acre-feet of LTSCs stored in the Phoenix Active Management Area (“AMA”), of which
approximately 550 acre-feet are under an agreement of purchase and sale by a third party expiring in November 2021. However, the buyer has the option to
terminate the agreement with 10 days’ notice without any obligation to purchase any additional LTSCs. Water stored in the AMA may be recovered and used
anywhere in the AMA and could have a variety of uses for residential and commercial developments within the Phoenix metropolitan area. All of the storage sites
we utilize within the AMA are operated by third parties.
Harquahala Valley Ground Water Basin
Any new residential development in Arizona within an AMA must obtain a permit from the Arizona Department of Water Resources certifying a “designated
assured water supply” sufficient to sustain the development for at least 100 years. Harquahala Valley groundwater meets the designation of assured water
supply.
As of December 31, 2019, we owned 1,926 acres of land and have the ability to utilize 6,040 acre-feet of groundwater for development within the
Harquahala Basin. The Analysis of Adequate Water Supply for the 6,040 acre-feet must be renewed before December 2021 in order to maintain these rights.
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Lincoln County, Nevada Water Delivery and Teaming Agreement
Lincoln County, Nevada (“Lincoln”) and Vidler entered into a water delivery teaming agreement to locate and develop water resources in Lincoln County,
Nevada for planned projects pursuant to the Lincoln County master plan. Under the agreement, proceeds from sales of water will be shared equally after Vidler is
reimbursed for the expenses incurred in developing water resources in Lincoln County. Lincoln/Vidler has filed applications for more than 100,000 acre-feet of
water rights, with the intention of supplying water for residential, commercial, and industrial use, as contemplated by the county’s approved master plan. We
believe that this is the only known new source of water for Lincoln County. Although it is uncertain, Vidler currently anticipates that over the long-term, up to
40,000 acre-feet of water rights will ultimately be permitted from these applications, and put to use for planned projects in Lincoln County.
Tule Desert Groundwater Basin
Lincoln/Vidler jointly filed permit applications in 1998 for approximately 14,000 acre-feet of water rights for industrial use from the Tule Desert Groundwater
Basin in Lincoln County, Nevada. In November 2002, the Nevada State Engineer awarded Lincoln/Vidler a permit for 2,100 acre-feet of water rights, which
Lincoln/Vidler subsequently sold in 2005; the State Engineer ruled that an additional 7,240 acre-feet could be granted pending additional studies by
Lincoln/Vidler (the “2002 Ruling”). Subsequent to the 2002 Ruling and consistent with the Nevada State Engineer’s conditions, we completed these additional
engineering and scientific studies.
On April 15, 2010, Lincoln/Vidler and the Nevada State Engineer announced a Settlement Agreement with respect to litigation between the parties regarding
the amount of water to be permitted in the Tule Desert Groundwater Basin. The Settlement Agreement resulted in the granting to Lincoln/Vidler of the original
application of 7,240 acre-feet of water rights with an initial 2,900 acre-feet of water rights available for sale or lease by Lincoln/Vidler. The balance of the water
rights (4,340 acre-feet) is the subject of staged pumping and development over the next several years to further refine the modeling of the basin and potential
impacts, if any, from deep aquifer pumping in the remote, unpopulated desert valley in Lincoln County, Nevada.
The Tule Desert Groundwater Basin water resources were developed by Lincoln/Vidler to support the Lincoln County Recreation, Conservation and
Development Act of 2004 (the “Land Act”). The water permitted under the Settlement Agreement is anticipated to provide sufficient water resources for a portion
of the Land Act properties.
Kane Springs
In 2005, Lincoln/Vidler agreed to sell water to a developer of Coyote Springs, a new planned residential and commercial development 60 miles north of Las
Vegas, as and when supplies were permitted from Lincoln/Vidler’s existing applications in Kane Springs, Nevada. Lincoln/Vidler currently has priority applications
for approximately 17,375 acre-feet of water in Kane Springs for which the Nevada State Engineer has requested additional data, before making a determination
on the applications from this groundwater basin. The actual permits received may be for a lesser quantity, which cannot be accurately predicted.
The Nevada State Engineer called for and held a hearing in September 2019 with respect to the Nevada State Engineer’s request for guidance and further
information to make a determination of the boundaries of the Lower White River Flow System (LWRFS) in Southern Nevada. Kane Springs Valley is located at
the northern portion of the LWRFS, and several participants in this hearing recommended inclusion of Kane Springs Valley as part of the LWRFS, where
currently it is not included. We believe that Kane Springs Valley is not a part of the LWRFS and at the hearing called by the State Engineer we, along with our
other water rights owners in the area, defended our position with scientific and hydrogeological data and presentations. If Kane Springs Valley is included as part
of the Lower White River Flow System, it will lower the priority date of our current water rights and will likely impede the pursuit of our existing applications in the
basin. The Nevada State Engineer is likely to rule on the management of the LWRFS by the third quarter of 2020.
Currently, we have an option agreement with a developer to sell our remaining 500 acre-feet of water rights we own in this area at a base price of $6,358 per
acre-foot, increased by 7.5% per year from September 2017. To date, the developer has made all required annual option payments, and has a right to exercise
the option to purchase the remaining 500 acre-feet for approximately $3.5 million. The execution of the right to purchase the remaining water rights has been
extended to 30 days after a final ruling from the Nevada State Engineer determining that the Kane Springs Valley is not within the boundaries of the LWRFS
administrative unit.
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The following table summarizes our other water rights and real estate assets at December 31, 2019:
Name and location of asset

Brief description

Present commercial use

Nevada:
Dry Lake

Vidler owns 600 acres of agricultural and ranch land in
Dry Lake Valley North. Lincoln/Vidler owns the 1,009
acre-feet of permitted agricultural groundwater rights
associated with the land.
Located in Lincoln County.
267 acre-feet of water rights.

Muddy River

Water rights and land are available to support
development through sale, lease, or partnering
arrangements.

Currently leased to Southern Nevada Water Authority.

Located 35 miles east of Las Vegas.
Dodge Flat

908.5 acre-feet of permitted municipal and industrial use
water rights.
Located in Washoe County, east of Reno.

470 acre - feet of water rights are currently under option
for $6,678 per acre - foot due prior to May 1, 2020 and
another 438.5 acre - feet of water rights are under option
due prior to the end of fiscal year 2020.

Colorado:
Tunnel

Approximately 126 acre-feet of water rights.

31 acre-feet of water leased under long term leases. 95
acre-feet are available for sale or lease.

Located in Summit County (the Colorado Rockies), near
Breckenridge.
New Mexico:
Campbell Ranch

Application for a new appropriation of 350 acre-feet of
ground water. Vidler is in partnership with the land
owner. The water rights would be used for a new
residential and commercial development.
Located 25 miles east of Albuquerque.

Lower Rio Grande Basin

Approximately 1,215 acre-feet of agricultural water
rights.
Located in Dona Ana and Sierra Counties.

Middle Rio Grande Basin

Approximately 85 acre-feet of water rights permitted for
municipal use.

In November 2014, our application was denied by the
New Mexico State Engineer causing us to record an
impairment loss of $3.5 million which reduced the
capitalized costs and other assets of this project to zero.
We appealed this decision on November 19, 2014. The
appeal was denied in February 2019. Our appeal of the
de novo trial denial has been filed. We are in the process
of filing motions related to the denial at the District court
which have not yet been resolved.
Water is available for sale, lease or other partnering
opportunities.
In 2014, we entered into a long term lease for a portion
of these water rights.
Water is available for sale, lease, or other partnering
opportunities.

Located in Santa Fe and Bernalillo Counties.
Employees
At December 31, 2019, we had 14 full - time employees.
Executive Officers
The executive officers of PICO are:
Name
Dorothy A. Timian - Palmer
Maxim C. W. Webb

Age
62
58

Position
President and Chief Executive Officer
Executive Chairman and Chief Financial Officer
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Ms. Timian - Palmer has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since August 2018. Ms. Timian-Palmer has been Chief Executive Officer of
Vidler Water Company, Inc. since October 2016, and President of Vidler Water Company. Inc. since October 2008.
Mr. Webb has served as our Executive Chairman since August 2018, and as our Chief Financial Officer since May 2019. Prior to his appointment as
Executive Chairman, Mr. Webb was our President and Chief Executive Officer, and a member of our Board of Directors since October 2016, and as Chairman of
the Board of Directors since December 2016. Mr. Webb has been an officer of Vidler Water Company, Inc. since 2001. He has served in various capacities since
joining our company in 1998, including Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Executive Vice President and Secretary.
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ITEM 1A: RISK FACTORS
The following information sets out factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have
made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and those we may make from time to time. Investors should carefully consider the following risks, together with other
matters described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated herein by reference in evaluating our business and prospects. If any of the following risks
occur, our business, financial condition, or operating results could be harmed. In such case, the trading price of our securities could decline, in some cases
significantly.
General economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our financial results, financial condition and, the demand for and the fair value
of our assets.
Our operations are sensitive to the general economic conditions in the local markets in which our assets are located. International, national, and regional
economic conditions may also affect our markets. General weak economic conditions and either slow or non-existent rates of growth in the markets in which we
operate could have a material adverse effect on the demand for and value of our water assets. Weak economic conditions include higher unemployment,
inflation, deflation, decreases in consumer demand, changes in buying patterns, a weakened dollar, higher consumer debt levels, higher interest rates,
especially higher mortgage rates, higher tax rates, and other changes in tax laws or other economic factors that may affect commercial and residential real
estate development.
Specifically, high national, regional, or local unemployment may arrest or delay growth of the residential and commercial real estate markets in which we
operate, which could adversely affect the demand for and value of our water assets. Any prolonged lack of demand for our water assets could have a significant
adverse effect on our revenues, results of operations, cash flows, and the return on our investment from these assets.
Our future revenue is uncertain and depends on a number of factors that may make our revenue, profitability, cash flows, and the fair value of our
assets volatile.
Our future revenue and profitability of our water resource and water storage operations will primarily be dependent on our ability to develop and sell or lease
our water assets. Because our water resource and water storage operations represent almost the entirety of our overall business at present, our long-term
profitability and the fair value of the assets related to our water resource and water storage operations could be adversely affected by various factors, including
drought in the southwest, regulatory approvals and permits associated with such assets, transportation arrangements, and changing technology. We may also
encounter unforeseen technical or other difficulties which could result in cost increases with respect to our water resource and water storage development
projects. Moreover, our profitability, and the fair value of our water resource assets and water storage operations, are significantly affected by changes in the
market price of water. Future sales and prices of water may fluctuate widely, as demand is affected by climatic, economic, demographic, and technological
factors, as well as the relative strength of the residential, commercial, financial, and industrial real estate markets. Additionally, to the extent that we hold junior
or conditional water rights, during extreme climatic conditions, such as periods of low river flow or drought, our water rights could be subordinated to superior
water rights holders. The factors described above are not within our control.
One or more of the above factors could negatively affect our revenue and profitability, our financial condition and cash flows, cause our results of operations
to be volatile, and could adversely affect our rate of return on our water assets and cause us to divest such assets for less than our intended return on our
investment.
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A downturn in the homebuilding and land development sectors in our markets would materially adversely affect our business, results of operations,
and the demand for and the fair value of our assets.
The homebuilding industry experienced a significant and sustained downturn in past years, resulting from factors that include, but are not limited to, weak
general economic and employment growth, limited access to capital, a lack of consumer confidence, large supplies of resale and foreclosed homes, a significant
number of homeowners whose mortgage loan balances exceeded the market value of their homes, and tight lending standards for mortgage loans that limited
consumers’ ability to qualify for mortgage financing to purchase a home. These factors resulted in an industry-wide weakness in demand for new homes and
caused a material adverse effect on the growth of the local economies and the homebuilding industry in the southwestern United States (“U.S.”) markets, where
all of our water assets are located, including the states of Nevada, Arizona, Colorado, and New Mexico. The continuation of the improvement in residential and
commercial real estate development activity is essential to our ability to generate revenue and operating income in our water resource and water storage
business. We are unable to predict whether and to what extent this improvement will continue. Any future slow-down in real estate and homebuilding activity
could adversely affect development projects within the markets in which our water assets are located, and could materially affect the demand for and the fair
value of our assets and our ability to monetize them. Declines and weak conditions in the U.S. housing market in prior years have reduced our revenues and
created losses in our water resource and water storage, and land development and homebuilding businesses and could do so in the future. Additionally, the
recent tax law changes limiting, among other things, deductibility of mortgage interest and of state and local income taxes may have a negative effect on the
national housing market and in the markets in which we operate, although the Nevada market may be less impacted due to the lack of a state income tax.
We may not be able to realize the anticipated value of our water assets in our projected time frame, if at all.
We expect that the current rate of growth of the economy will continue to have an impact on real estate market fundamentals. Depending on how markets
perform in the short and long-term, the state of the economy, nationally and locally where our assets are concentrated, could result in a decline in the value of
our existing water assets, or cause us to retain such assets longer than we initially expected, which would negatively affect our rate of return on our water assets,
cause us to divest such assets for less than our intended return on investment, or cause us to impair the book values of such assets to estimated fair value.
Such events would adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
The fair values of our water assets are linked to growth factors concerning the local markets in which our assets are concentrated and may be
affected by broader economic issues.
Both the demand for, and fair value of, our water assets are significantly affected by the growth in population and the general state of the local economies
where our real estate and water assets are located. The local economies where our real estate and water assets are located, primarily in Arizona and northern
Nevada, but also in southern Nevada, Colorado, and New Mexico, may be adversely affected by factors such as the local level of employment, the availability
and cost of financing for real estate development, and the affordability of housing. The unemployment rate in these states, as well as credit market conditions,
may prolong a slowdown of the local economies where our real estate and water assets are located. These developments, if they occur, could materially and
adversely affect the demand for, and the fair value of, our real estate and water assets and, consequently, adversely affect our growth and revenues, results of
operations, cash flows, and the return on our investment from these assets.
The fair values of our water assets may decrease, which could adversely affect our results of operations with losses from asset impairments.
The fair value of our water resource and water storage assets depends on market conditions. We acquired water resources and land for expansion into new
markets and for replacement of inventory and expansion within our current markets. The valuation of real estate and water assets is inherently subjective, based
on the individual characteristics of each asset and the demand for that asset. Factors such as changes in regulatory requirements and applicable laws, political
conditions, the condition of financial markets, local and national economic conditions, change in efficiencies of water use, the financial condition of customers,
potentially adverse tax consequences, and interest and inflation rate fluctuations subject our asset valuations to uncertainties. In addition, our valuations are
made on the basis of assumptions that may not prove to reflect economic or demographic reality. If population growth and, as a result, water and/or housing
demand in our markets, fails to meet our expectations when we acquired our real estate and water assets, our profitability may be adversely affected, and we
may be unable to recover our costs when we sell our real estate and water assets. We regularly review the value of our water assets. These reviews have
resulted in recording significant impairment losses in prior years to our water resource assets. Such impairments have adversely affected our results of
operations and our financial condition in those years.
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If future market conditions adversely affect the anticipated timing and the volume of sales of our water assets, we may be required to record further
significant impairments to the carrying value of our water assets, which would adversely affect our results of operations and our financial condition.
* Our water resource and water storage operations are concentrated in a limited number of assets and markets, making the success of our
operations highly dependent on the conditions and fluctuations of the local economies where those operations and assets are located.
We anticipate that a significant amount of our water resource and water storage revenue, results of operations, and cash flows will result from a limited
number of assets, that primarily consist of our water rights in Nevada and our water storage operations in Arizona. Our two most significant assets are our water
storage operations in Arizona and our water rights available to serve the north valleys area of Reno, Nevada. As a result of this geographic concentration, we
expect the ultimate return on our invested capital, results of operations, and cash flows will be closely associated with the conditions and fluctuations of the local
economies, including any changes in local and regional government land use, zoning, permitting approvals and other regulatory actions in these regions. Any
economic downturn, or additional permitting, zoning or planning regulatory requirements in these markets, would adversely impact our results of operations, cash
flows, and our financial condition.
Our Arizona Recharge Facility is one of the few private sector water storage sites in Arizona. At December 31, 2019, we had approximately 250,682 acrefeet of water stored at the facility. In addition, at December 31, 2019, we had approximately 28,350 acre-feet of water stored in the Phoenix Active Management
Area. We have not stored any water on behalf of any customers and, as of December 31, 2019, had not generated any material revenue from the recharge
facility. We cannot be certain that we will ultimately be able to sell all of the stored water at a price sufficient to provide an adequate economic return, if at all.
We constructed a pipeline approximately 35 miles long to deliver water from Fish Springs Ranch to the north valleys area of Reno, Nevada. As of
December 31, 2019, the total cost of the pipeline project, including our water credits (net of impairment losses incurred to date), carried on our balance sheet
was approximately $81.7 million. To date, we have sold only a small amount of the water credits, and we cannot provide any assurance that the sales prices we
may obtain in the future will provide an adequate economic return, if at all. Any prolonged weak demand or lack of permitting approvals for new homes and
residential and commercial development would adversely affect our assets in Nevada and Arizona and would have a material adverse effect on our future
revenues, results of operations, cash flows, and the return on our investment from those assets. Demand for these water credits is anticipated to come primarily
from both local and national developers planning to construct new projects in the north valleys area of Reno, Nevada. The success of these projects is
dependent on numerous factors beyond our control, including local government approvals, employment growth in the greater Reno area, and the ability of the
developers to finance these projects.
We may suffer uninsured losses or suffer material losses in excess of insurance limits.
We could suffer physical damage to our assets and the losses resulting from any damage may not be fully recoverable by insurance. In addition, certain
types of risks, such as personal injury claims or other tortious conduct, may be, or may become in the future, either uninsurable or uneconomical to insure, or
may not be currently, or in the future, covered by our insurance or subject to significant deductibles or limits. If an uninsured loss, or a loss in excess of insured
limits, occurs or is subject to a large deductible, we could sustain financial loss or lose capital invested in the affected asset(s), as well as anticipated future
income from that asset. In addition, we could be liable to repair damage or meet liabilities caused by risks that are uninsured or subject to deductibles.
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We may not receive all of the permitted water rights we expect from the water rights applications we have filed in Nevada and New Mexico.
We have filed water rights applications in Nevada and New Mexico. In Nevada the filings are primarily as part of the water teaming agreement with Lincoln
County. We deploy the capital required to enable the filed applications to be converted into permitted water rights over time as and when we deem appropriate,
or as otherwise required. We expend capital in those areas where our initial investigations lead us to believe that we can obtain a sufficient volume of water to
provide an adequate economic return on the capital invested in the project. These capital expenditures largely consist of drilling and engineering costs for water
production, costs of monitoring wells, legal and consulting costs for hearings with the relevant State Engineer, and other compliance costs. Until the Nevada
State Engineer, or other authority in the relevant state, permits the water rights we are applying for, we cannot provide any assurance that we will be awarded all
of the water that we expect based on the results of our drilling and our legal position and it may be a considerable period of time before we are able to ascertain
the final volume of water rights, if any, that will be permitted by the Nevada State Engineer or other authority in the relevant state. Any significant reduction in the
volume of water awarded to us from our original base expectation of the amount of water that could be permitted may result in the write down of capitalized costs
that could adversely affect the return on our investment from those assets, our revenues, results of operations, and cash flows.
Variances in physical availability of water, along with environmental and legal restrictions and legal impediments, could adversely affect profitability.
We value our water assets, in part, based upon the volume (as measured in acre-feet) of water we anticipate from water rights applications and our
permitted water rights. Our water and water rights and the transferability of these rights to other uses, persons, and places of use are governed by the laws
concerning water rights in the states of Arizona, Colorado, Nevada, and New Mexico. The volumes of water actually derived from the water rights applications or
permitted rights may vary considerably based upon physical availability and may be further limited by applicable legal restrictions, including, with limitation,
restrictions on transfer of water rights.
As a result, the volume of water anticipated from the water rights applications or permitted rights may not in every case represent a reliable, firm annual yield
of water, but in some cases describe the face amount of the water right claims or management’s best estimate of such entitlement. Additionally, we may face
legal restrictions on the sale or transfer of some of our water assets, which may adversely affect their commercial value. If the volume of water yielded from our
water rights applications is less than our expectations, or we are unable to transfer or sell our water assets, we may be unable to achieve some or all of our
anticipated returns, which may adversely affect our revenues, profitability, and cash flows.
Purchasers of our real estate and water assets may default on their obligations to us and adversely affect our results of operations and cash flow.
In certain circumstances, we finance sales of real estate and water assets, and we secure such financing through deeds of trust on the property, which are
only released once the financing has been fully paid. Purchasers of our real estate and water assets may default on their financing obligations. Such defaults
may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and the results of operations and cash flows.
Our sale of water assets may be subject to environmental regulations which would impact our revenues, profitability, and cash flows.
The quality of the water assets we lease or sell may be subject to regulation by the United States Environmental Protection Agency, acting pursuant to the
United States Safe Drinking Water Act, and with other federal, state and local regulations. While environmental regulations may not directly affect us, regulations
regarding the quality of water distributed affect our intended customers and may, therefore, depending on the quality of our water, affect the price and terms upon
which we may in the future sell our water assets. If we need to reduce the price of our water assets in order to make sales to our intended customers, our
balance sheet, return on investment, results of operations, and financial condition could suffer.
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Our water assets may be adversely affected by legal and political opposition in certain locations.
The water assets we hold, and the transferability of these assets and rights to other uses, persons, or places of use, are governed by the laws and
regulations concerning water rights in the states of Arizona, Nevada, Colorado and New Mexico, and may be directly or indirectly affected by other federal, state
and local laws and regulations related to water and land use. Our development and sale of water assets is subject to the risks of delay associated with receiving
all necessary regulatory approvals and permits, or the refusal to issue regulatory approvals or permits, and possible litigation. Additionally, the transfer of water
resources from one use to another may affect the economic base or impact other community issues, including development, and will, in some instances, be met
with local opposition. Moreover, municipalities who may regulate the use of water we sell to them in order to manage growth could also impose additional
requirements that we must satisfy to sell our water assets.
If we are unable to effectively transfer, sell, and convey water resources, our ability to monetize those assets will suffer and our return on investment,
revenues and financial condition would decline.
If our assets decline in value, our financial condition and the return on our investment could suffer.
Historically, we have acquired and invested in businesses and assets that we believed were undervalued or that would benefit from additional capital,
restructuring of operations, strategic initiatives, or operational efficiencies. If any previously acquired business, investment or asset fails or its fair value declines,
we could experience a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, the results of operations, and cash flows. If we are not successful in
managing our previous acquisitions and investments, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially affected. Such
business failures, declines in the fair value of our assets, and/or failure to manage acquisitions or investments, could result in a negative return on equity. We
could also lose part or all of our capital in these businesses and experience reductions in our net income, cash flows, assets and equity.
Future dispositions of our businesses, assets, operations and investments, if unsuccessful, could reduce the value of our common stock. Any future
dispositions may result in significant changes in the composition of our assets and liabilities. Consequently, our financial condition, results of operations and the
trading price of our common stock may be affected by factors different from those historically affecting our financial condition, results of operations, and trading
price at the present time.
We may need additional capital in the future to fund our business and financing may not be available on favorable terms, if at all, or without dilution
to our shareholders.
We currently anticipate that our available capital resources and operating cash flows will be sufficient to meet our expected working capital and capital
expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, we cannot provide any assurance that such resources will be sufficient to fund our business
over longer periods. We may be required to raise additional funds through public or private debt, equity, warrants or hybrid securities financings, including,
without limitation, the issuance of securities.
We may experience difficulty in raising necessary capital in view of the recent volatility in the capital markets and increases in the cost of finance, especially
for a small capitalization company like ours. Increasingly stringent rating standards could make it more difficult for us to obtain financing. If we raise additional
funds through the issuance of equity, warrants or convertible or other debt securities, the ownership of our shareholders could be significantly diluted, and these
newly issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing shareholders. Indebtedness would result in increased debt service
obligations and could result in operating and financing covenants that would restrict our operations. The additional financing we may need may not be available
to us, or available on favorable terms. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, if and when needed, our ability to fund our
operations or otherwise execute our business and operating plan would be significantly limited. In any such case, our business, operating results, or financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.
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* Our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), if our Company undergoes an “ownership change” ((generally defined
as a greater than fifty-percent (50%) change in the percentage of stock owned by one or more than five percent (5%) or more shareholders (measured by the
relative fair market value of that shareholder’s stock compared to the total value of all outstanding stock, excluding changes in ownership attributable to
fluctuations in value between different classes of stock)) as of the testing date, measured over a three year period, or a period beginning with any previous
testing date, whichever is shorter, our ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset our postchange income may be limited. Notwithstanding our adoption of a tax benefit preservation plan, which was ratified by our shareholders at our 2018 annual
meeting, it is possible that we could experience ownership changes in the future as a result of shifts in our stock ownership. Furthermore, Section 382 (and other
tax code and regulatory provisions) relating to net operating losses have recently been subject to proposed regulations by the Treasury Department and Internal
Revenue Service which, if finalized in their current form, may have the effect of further reducing the value of net operating losses, in certain circumstances, for a
corporation that undergoes an ownership change. As of December 31, 2019, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $156.5
million and $ 140.6 million, respectively, which, depending on ownership changes, could be limited by Section 382 of the Code.
We may not be able to retain key management personnel we need to succeed, which could adversely affect our ability to successfully operate our
businesses.
To run our day-to-day operations and to successfully manage our businesses we must, among other things, continue to retain key management. We rely on
the services of a small team of key executive officers. If any key executive departs, it could have a significant adverse effect upon our business. Also, increased
competition for skilled management and staff employees in our businesses could cause us to experience significant increases in operating costs and reduced
profitability.
Analysts and investors may not be able to evaluate us adequately, which may negatively influence the price of our stock.
We own assets that are unique, complex in nature, and difficult to understand. In particular, our water resource business is a developing industry in the
United States with very little historical and comparable data, complex valuation issues and a limited following of analysts. Because our assets are unique,
analysts and investors may be unable to adequately evaluate our operations and enterprise as a going concern. This could cause analysts and investors to make
inaccurate evaluations of our stock, or to overlook the Company in general. As a result, the trading volume and price of our stock could suffer and may be
subject to excessive volatility.
Fluctuations in the market price of our common stock may affect your ability to sell your shares.
The trading price of our common stock has historically been, and we expect will continue to be, subject to fluctuations. The market price of our common stock
may be significantly affected by:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

quarterly variations in financial performance and condition of our various businesses;
shortfalls in revenue or earnings from estimates forecast by securities analysts or others;
changes in estimates by such analysts;
the ability to monetize our water assets for an adequate economic return, including the length of time any such monetization may take;
our competitors’ announcements of extraordinary events such as acquisitions;
litigation;
general economic conditions and other matters described herein;
the number of analysts who follow our stock and their understanding of our business; and
the volume of trading in our stock.

Our results of operations have been subject to significant fluctuations, particularly on a quarterly basis, and our future results of operations could fluctuate
significantly from quarter to quarter and from year to year. Causes of such fluctuations may include one time transactions and impairment losses. Statements or
changes in opinions, ratings, or earnings estimates made by brokerage firms or industry analysts relating to the markets in which we do business or relating to us
specifically could result in an immediate and adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. Such fluctuations in the market price of our common stock
could affect the value of your investment and your ability to sell your shares.
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Litigation may harm our business or otherwise distract our management.
Substantial, complex or extended litigation could cause us to incur large expenditures and distract our management. For example, lawsuits by employees,
shareholders or customers could be very costly and substantially disrupt our business. Additionally, from time to time we or our subsidiaries will have disputes
with companies, governmental and tribal entities, special interest groups, or individuals which may result in litigation that could necessitate our management’s
attention and require us to expend our resources. We may be unable to accurately assess our level of exposure to specific litigation, and we cannot provide any
assurance that we will always be able to resolve such disputes out of court or on terms favorable to us. We may be forced to resolve litigation in a manner not
favorable to us, and such resolution could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
We have been the subject of shareholder activism efforts that could cause a material disruption to our business.
In the past, certain investors took steps to involve themselves in the governance and strategic direction of our Company due to governance and strategicrelated disagreements with us. While we have formally settled with certain of those activists, other investors could take steps to involve themselves in the
governance and strategic direction of our Company. Such shareholder activism efforts could result in substantial costs and diversion of management’s attention
and resources, harming our business and adversely affecting the market price of our common stock.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law may make an acquisition of us more complicated and the removal and
replacement of our directors and management more difficult.
Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us,
even if doing so would benefit our stockholders. These provisions may also make it difficult for stockholders to remove and replace our board of directors and
management. For example, these provisions limit who may call a special meeting of stockholders and establish advance notice requirements for nominations for
election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings. In addition, on July 24, 2017, our board of directors
adopted a tax benefits preservation plan designed to preserve our ability to utilize our net operating losses as a result of certain stock ownership changes, which
may have the effect of discouraging transactions involving an actual or potential change in our ownership.
If equity analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue unfavorable commentary or downgrade our common stock,
the price of our common stock could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts may publish about us and our business.
We do not control these analysts. The price of our stock could decline if one or more equity analysts downgrade our stock or if those analysts issue other
unfavorable commentary or cease publishing reports about us or our business.
Our business could be negatively impacted by cyber security threats.
In the ordinary course of our business, we use our data centers and our networks to store and access our proprietary business information. We face various
cyber security threats, including without limitation, cyber security attacks to our information technology infrastructure and attempts by others to gain access to our
proprietary or sensitive information. The procedures and controls we use to monitor these threats and mitigate our exposure may not be sufficient to prevent
cyber security incidents. The result of these incidents could include disrupted operations, lost opportunities, misstated financial data, liability for stolen assets or
information, increased costs arising from the implementation of additional security protective measures, litigation and reputational damage. Any remedial costs or
other liabilities related to cyber security incidents may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means.
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*Our plan to monetize assets and return capital to our shareholders may lead to a permanent reduction in our market capitalization and adversely
affect the trading volume and liquidity for our stock.
Our current business plan is to monetize our assets and return capital to our shareholders through a stock repurchase program or by other means such as
special dividends. Currently we have a stock repurchase program in place and as of December 31, 2019, we had utilized $38.3 million to repurchase
approximately 3.4 million of our common shares. As we continue to monetize assets and use the associated sale proceeds for share repurchases or special
dividends, it is possible that our market capitalization will permanently decline, which could adversely affect the trading volume and liquidity for our stock. In
addition, we are currently a constituent member of the Russell 2000 index, along with other indexes and other indexed products. If we ceased to be represented
in the Russell 2000 index, or other indexes or indexed products, as a result of our market capitalization falling below the threshold for inclusion in the index,
whether due to a decline in our stock price or a reduction in the number of shares outstanding, or for any other reason, certain institutional shareholders may,
due to their internal policies and investment guidelines, be required to sell their shareholdings. Such sales may result in further negative pressure on our stock
price and, when combined with reduced trading volume and liquidity, could adversely affect the value of your investment and your ability to sell your shares.
THE FOREGOING FACTORS, INDIVIDUALLY OR IN AGGREGATE, COULD MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING RESULTS, CASH
FLOWS, AND FINANCIAL CONDITION AND COULD MAKE COMPARISON OF HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, INCLUDING RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS, CASH FLOWS, AND BALANCES, DIFFICULT OR NOT MEANINGFUL.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
We lease office space in Carson City, Nevada, where our principal executive office is located, and office space in La Jolla, California, that is vacant and has
a lease that expires in May 2020. We continually evaluate our current and future space capacity in relation to our business needs. We believe that our existing
office space is adequate to meet our current business requirements and that suitable replacement and additional space will be available in the future on
commercially reasonable terms, should we need it.
We have significant holdings of real estate and water assets in the southwestern United States as described in “Item 1 - Business.”
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Neither we nor our subsidiaries are parties to any potentially material pending legal proceedings.
We are subject to various litigation matters that arise in the ordinary course of our business. Based upon information presently available, management is of
the opinion that resolution of such litigation will not likely have a material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
Because litigation is inherently unpredictable and unfavorable resolutions could occur, assessing contingencies is highly subjective and requires judgments
about future events. When evaluating contingencies, we may be unable to provide a meaningful estimate due to a number of factors, including the procedural
status of the matter in question, the presence of complex or novel legal theories, and/or the ongoing discovery and development of information important to the
matters. In addition, damage amounts claimed in litigation against us may be unsupported, exaggerated or unrelated to possible outcomes, and as such are not
meaningful indicators of our potential liability. We regularly review contingencies to determine the adequacy of our accruals and related disclosures. The amount
of ultimate loss may differ from these estimates, and it is possible that cash flows or results of operations could be materially affected in any particular period by
the unfavorable resolution of one or more of these contingencies. Whether any losses finally determined in any claim, action, investigation or proceeding could
reasonably have a material effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows will depend on a number of variables, including: the
timing and amount of such losses; the structure and type of any remedies; the significance of the impact any such losses, damages or remedies may have on
our consolidated financial statements; and the unique facts and circumstances of the particular matter that may give rise to additional factors.
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “PICO.” The following table sets out the quarterly high and low sales
prices for the past two years as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market. These reported prices reflect inter-dealer prices, without adjustments for retail
markups, markdowns, or commissions.
2019
High

2018
Low

High

Low

First Quarter

$

11.04

$

8.97

$

13.40

$

10.60

Second Quarter

$

11.82

$

9.91

$

12.85

$

10.38

Third Quarter

$

11.70

$

9.37

$

12.70

$

11.35

Fourth Quarter

$

11.41

$

9.63

$

12.63

$

8.85

Any future decision to pay dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our
ability to monetize assets, our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.
On February 27, 2020, the closing sale price of our common stock was $9.66 and there were approximately 290 holders of record.
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Average price paid per
share of common stock
(including commissions)

Total number of shares of
common stock purchased

Period

Total number of shares of
common stock repurchased
as part of publicly
announced plans or
programs

Maximum dollar value of
shares of common stock that
may yet be repurchased
under the plans or programs
(in thousands) (1)

10/1/2019 - 10/31/19

78,238

$

10.19

3,345,884

$

12,758

11/1/2019 - 11/30/19

42,573

$

10.80

3,388,457

$

12,298

12/1/2019 - 12/31/19

57,932

$

11.07

3,446,389

$

11,656

Total

178,743

(1)

The stock repurchase program authorization was amended on February 1, 2020. Our Board of Directors authorized an aggregate of $100 million (from an
aggregate of $50 million previously authorized) to be used for the stock repurchase program and there is no set expiration date.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
INTRODUCTION
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to help the reader understand
our Company. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes, presented later in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The MD&A includes the following sections:
•
•
•
•

Company Summary, Recent Developments, and Future Outlook — a brief description of our operations, the critical factors affecting them, and their future
prospects;
Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates, and Judgments — a discussion of accounting policies which require critical judgments and estimates. Our significant
accounting policies, including the critical accounting policies discussed in this section, are summarized in the notes to the consolidated financial statements;
Results of Operations — an analysis of our consolidated results of operations for the past two years, presented in our consolidated financial statements; and
Liquidity and Capital Resources — an analysis of cash flows, sources and uses of cash, contractual obligations and a discussion of factors affecting our
future cash flow.
COMPANY SUMMARY, RECENT DEVELOPMENTS, AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

Recent Developments:
Northern Nevada
The majority of our water resource assets are located in northern Nevada at FSR and our Carson / Lyon project. FSR’s water credits are able to provide a
sustainable water supply in the North Valleys region of Reno, Washoe County, Nevada, and the Carson / Lyon water rights are able to provide a sustainable
water supply in Lyon County, Nevada. As a result, we are dependent on new residential or commercial development occurring in these regions in order for us to
monetize our water resources in northern Nevada. In turn, new development in these regions is highly dependent on the continued robust economic and job
growth that is occurring in northern Nevada.
The economic development in the greater Reno region has been concentrated in the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center business park (“TRIC”) which is a
107,000 acre industrial park proximate to Interstate 80 and 15 miles east of Reno, Nevada. Tesla Motors, Inc. (“Tesla”) built its Gigafactory facility in this
business park with initial estimates that 6,500 jobs would be created by the Gigafactory project. Currently, the forecast is that more than 10,000 jobs will be
created by the project. Many other technology companies have also moved to the area including Apple, Google, Jet.com, Battery Systems Inc., Tire Rack, U.S.
Ordinance, Zulily, Switch and Blockchains LLC.
The Economic Development Authority of Western Nevada (“EDAWN”), comprised of Reno, Sparks, and Tahoe areas, estimated that the region would
generate 52,400 direct and indirect jobs from 2015 to 2020. As of the most recent tracking data provided by EDAWN in November 2018, the actual job growth
continues to be ahead of this forecast with 58,401 new jobs created since December 2014; a total increase of 16.5%, compared to the forecasted total job
growth for that period of 15.1%. EDAWN has released a further update (RCG Economics, Technical Memorandum dated January 29, 2019) to its previous
forecast that includes the latest historical data and a new five-year forecast from 2019 through 2023. This five-year forecast projects a cumulative addition of
51,585 new jobs in the region which represents a 12.7% increase in employment. This job growth leads to population growth. The report also projects the
region’s population to grow to 686,787 residents by the end of 2023, an increase of 54,470 residents (8.6%) in that five-year period. We believe that this
increased employment and population growth will create demand for new residential, commercial and industrial development in the greater Reno area and in
Lyon County.
According to EDAWN’s most updated report dated January 23, 2020, Reno was rated first in the U.S. for Metropolitan Service Areas (MSA) in job growth
and third for economic strength. In addition, Reno was in the top 15 of the projected fastest growing real estate markets for the coming decade. The McKinsey
Global Institute in a report dated July 2019, projected Reno as one of the top 25 U.S. cities to experience sixty (60%) percent job growth by 2030.
20

2019 brought 22 new companies and over 1,300 new jobs to the Reno MSA, with an average wage of $64,000. Fourteen corporate headquarters moved to
the Reno MSA in 2019. These new businesses were largely manufacturing, technology, aeronautical, and financial companies, along with additional logistics and
distribution companies. As the Reno/Sparks business sector has grown, so have actual wages to an average of $72,000 in 2019.
Current economic conditions have resulted in new business openings, fewer apartment vacancies, and the greater absorption of existing housing inventory.
This activity has resulted in multiple new housing projects entering the approval process with local governments in Reno, Sparks, Carson City, Lyon County and
Fernley. Residential housing projects have to demonstrate sustainable water supply to get final map approval, and many projects in the North Valleys of Nevada
are currently in the process of seeking or have obtained master plan amendment/zone change approvals. The next step for these developers is to obtain
tentative map and then final map approvals. Within the Reno-Sparks and Washoe County area of Nevada, according to EDAWN, in 2019 there were 3,807 new
housing permits pulled. EDAWN’s goal is for at least 6,000 new housing permits to meet the projected demand for housing. In 2019, total new permits in
Reno/Sparks/Washoe County decreased approximately 17% over the total number of new building permits for single-family and multi-family homes, combined,
of 4,595 in 2018. We believe the reduction in the issuance of building permits is due to a lag between subdivision approvals such as Zone Change/Master Plan
Amendments and Tentative Maps and the issuance of actual building permits. We expect the building permit activity to increase in 2020, once the permit
process is initiated on newly approved subdivisions. We believe this increase in activity will lead to demand for our water resources, as developers pursue their
projects to provide housing for the population growth in the region. However, the increased activity has strained governmental agencies and has caused delays
in processing permits as well as new projects’ planning approval process. The timing of future monetization of our water resources in northern Nevada is directly
correlated to the time that residential developers pursue their projects in the areas that our FSR and Carson/Lyon assets are located and the time it takes for
those developers to get the requisite planning approvals prior to obtaining final map approval or, in the case of commercial development projects, final regulatory
approvals.
Arizona
Several market catalysts with respect to our LTSCs continue to emerge, including the recent drought in the western United States, continued structural
deficits on the Colorado River system, Indian Firming and Settlement obligations by the state of Arizona, increased water demand from overall growth in Arizona,
especially in the Pinal AMA, and the Lower Basin Drought Contingency Planning effort by Arizona. There is continued interest from other parties contemplating
buying our LTSCs at prices that we believe reflect the true value of our LTSCs.
Arizona has an obligation to “firm” Indian water supplies as negotiated through various Indian Water Settlement Agreements. Section 105 of the Settlements
Act (S. 437) titled “Firming of Central Arizona Project Indian Water,” authorizes the Secretary of Interior and the State of Arizona to develop a firming program to
ensure that of a total 197,500 acre-feet of non-Indian agricultural water reallocated to the Arizona Indian Tribes, 60,648 acre-feet must be delivered in the same
manner as water with a municipal and industrial priority during water shortages, over a 100 year period. It is estimated that over the 100-year period, the total
shortfall of the Indian Firming obligation is approximately 550,000 acre-feet. To date approximately 140,000 acre-feet has been secured by Arizona for the
firming obligations shortfall. The US Bureau of Reclamation also has an Indian firming obligation for existing and future Arizona Indian settlements of
approximately 950,000 acre-feet. We believe our LTSCs can be used to help Arizona and the US Bureau of Reclamation meet these obligations.
A shortage on the Colorado River system will be declared by the Secretary of the Interior when on January 1, of any year, Lake Mead’s surface water
elevation is at or below 1,075 ft. Under the Drought Contingency Plan (DCP), a new tier, “Tier 0”, applies when Lake Mead is at an elevation between 1,075 ft.
and 1,090 ft. and a shortage declaration has been declared which went into effect January 1, 2020. This requires Arizona to cut-back its allocations by 192,000
acre-feet, and Nevada by 9,000 acre-feet. When Lake Mead is at an elevation between 1,050 ft. and 1,075 ft., Nevada’s share of the shortage is 13,000 acrefeet and Arizona’s cut-back to its allocation is 320,000 acre-feet. In contrast, California suffers no loss to its allocation from the Colorado River (2007 Shortage
Sharing Guidelines).
The Colorado River system has been determined to suffer from a structural deficit of 1.2 million acre-feet annually. This means that on an average annual
water year, Lake Mead will lose 1.2 million acre-feet to the system, due to evaporation, treaty obligations with Mexico, and allocations of water to Arizona,
Nevada and California that exceed what the system yields. We continue to believe that Vidler’s LTSCs are well positioned to buffer Arizona through times of
water shortage and our LTSCs could be purchased by state entities and/or municipalities located in the Phoenix AMA to be used directly or to help sustain levels
in Lake Mead.
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Currently the Pinal AMA, a largely agricultural area located in between the Phoenix and Tucson AMAs, is experiencing a physical shortage of water supplies
for new developments within this AMA. This area, like the Phoenix metropolitan area, is increasingly under pressure to grow from new residential, commercial,
and industrial users; however, according to the Arizona Department of Water Resources analyses, there is “...insufficient, groundwater in the Pinal Active
Management Area to support all existing uses and issued assured water supply determinations.” Proposed projects have been denied unless new water sources
can be found to sustain this new development. The use of our banked water in Harquahala could be used to help satisfy this need.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ESTIMATES, AND JUDGEMENTS
This section describes the most important accounting policies affecting our assets and liabilities, and the results of our operations. Since the estimates,
assumptions, and judgments involved in the accounting policies described below have the greatest potential impact on our financial statements, we consider
these to be our critical accounting policies:
•
•
•

how we determine the fair value and carrying value of our tangible and intangible water assets, and real estate;
how and when we recognize revenue when we sell water assets and real estate; and
how we determine our income tax provision, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and reserves for unrecognized tax benefits, as well as the need for valuation
allowances on our deferred tax assets.
We believe that an understanding of these accounting policies will help the reader to analyze and interpret our financial statements.

Our consolidated financial statements, and the accompanying notes, are prepared in accordance with GAAP, which requires us to make estimates, using
available data and our judgment, for things such as valuing assets, accruing liabilities, recognizing revenues, and estimating expenses. Due to the uncertainty
inherent in these matters, actual results could differ from the estimates we use in applying the critical accounting policies. We base our estimates on historical
experience, and various other assumptions, which we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The following are the significant subjective estimates used in preparing our financial statements:
1. Fair value and carrying value of our tangible and intangible water assets and real estate
Our primary long-lived assets include tangible and intangible water assets and real estate. At December 31, 2019, the total carrying value of such assets
was $161.7 million, or approximately 89% of our total assets. These assets are carried at cost, less any recorded impairments.
Tangible water assets and real estate
We review our long-lived tangible water assets and real estate as facts and circumstances change, or if there are indications of impairment present, to
ensure that the estimated undiscounted future cash flows, excluding interest charges, from the use and eventual disposition of these assets will at least recover
their carrying value. Cash flow forecasts are prepared for each discrete asset. We engage in a rigorous process to prepare and review the cash flow models
which utilize the most recent information available to us. However, the process inevitably involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, especially
the estimated current and future demand for these assets, the estimated future market values of our assets, the timing of the disposition of these assets, the
ongoing cost of maintenance and improvement of the assets, and the current and projected income earned and other uncertain future events. As a result, our
estimates are likely to change from period to period. In addition, our estimates may change as unanticipated events transpire which would cause us to reconsider
the current and future use of the assets. If we use different assumptions, if our plans change, or if the conditions in future periods differ from our forecasts, our
financial condition and results of operations could be materially impacted.
There were no material impairment losses recorded on our tangible water assets or real estate during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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Intangible water assets
Our intangible water assets are accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets. Accordingly, until an asset is sold, it is not amortized, that is, its value is
not charged as an expense in our consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss over time, but the asset is carried at cost and
reviewed for impairment, at least annually during the fourth quarter, and more frequently if a specific event occurs or there are changes in circumstances which
suggest that the asset may be impaired. Such events or changes may include lawsuits, court decisions, regulatory mandates, and economic conditions,
including interest rates, demand for residential and commercial real estate, changes in population, and increases or decreases in prices of similar assets. Once
an asset is sold, the value is charged to cost of real estate and water assets sold in our consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss.
When we calculate the fair value of intangible water assets, we use a discounted cash flow model, under which the future net cash flows from the asset are
forecasted and then discounted back to their present value, using a weighted average cost of capital approach to determine the appropriate discount rate.
Preparing these cash flow models requires us to make significant assumptions about revenues and expenses as well as the specific risks inherent in the assets.
If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to the difference. We conduct extensive reviews utilizing the most recent
information available to us; however, the review process inevitably involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, especially the estimated current
asset pricing, potential price escalation, income tax rates, discount rates, absorption rates and timing, and demand for these assets. These models are sensitive
to minor changes in any of the input variables.
In summary, the cash flow models for our most significant indefinite-lived intangible assets forecast initial sales to begin within approximately one year, and
then increase until the assets are mostly sold over the next four decades. We have assumed sale proceeds for the assets that are based on our estimates of the
likely future sales price per acre-foot. These per-unit sale prices are estimated based on the demand and supply fundamentals in the markets which these assets
serve. If we use different assumptions, if our plans change, or if the conditions in future periods differ from our forecasts, our financial condition and results of
operations could be materially impacted.
There were no material impairment losses recorded on our intangible water assets during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
2. Revenue recognition
Sale of real estate and water assets
We recognize revenue when there is a legally binding sale contract, the profit is determinable (the collectability of the sales price is reasonably assured, or
any amount that will not be collectible can be estimated), the earnings process is virtually complete (we are not obliged to perform significant activities after the
sale to earn the profit, meaning we have transferred all risks and rewards to the buyer), and the buyer’s initial and continuing investment is adequate to
demonstrate a commitment to pay for the property.
Unless all of these conditions are met, we use the deposit method of accounting. Under the deposit method of accounting, until the conditions to fully
recognize a sale are met, payments received from the buyer are recorded as a liability on our balance sheet, and no gain is recognized.
3. Income taxes
Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and reserves for unrecognized tax benefits reflect our best assessment of estimated future taxes
to be paid. We are subject to federal and various state income taxes. We have multiple state filing groups with different income tax generating abilities. Significant
judgments and estimates are required in determining the consolidated income tax expense.
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Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax and financial statement recognition of revenue and expense. In evaluating our
ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including
scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, tax planning strategies and recent financial operating results. We consider many factors when assessing the
likelihood of future realization of our deferred tax assets, including recent cumulative earnings experienced by taxing jurisdictions, expectations of future
transactions, the carryforward periods available to us for tax reporting purposes, our historical use of tax attributes, and availability of tax planning strategies.
These assumptions require significant judgments about future events; however, they are consistent with the plans and estimates we use to manage our
underlying businesses. In evaluating the objective evidence that historical results provide, we consider three years of cumulative operating income or loss.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recorded a full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets. Our evaluation at December 31, 2019
resulted in the same conclusion, and we therefore continue to hold a full valuation allowance on our reported consolidated net deferred tax assets. If our
assumptions change and we determine we will be able to realize these attributes, the tax benefits relating to any reversal of the valuation allowance on deferred
tax assets at December 31, 2019, will be recognized as a reduction of income tax expense. If our assumptions do not change, each year we could record an
additional valuation allowance on any increases in the deferred tax assets.
The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions.
Changes in tax laws and rates could also affect recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities in the future. As a result of changes in tax law and rates that became
effective for tax years starting on January 1, 2018 (the “Tax Act”), we revalued our deferred tax assets and liabilities using a 21% tax rate for our federal deferred
income tax balances. In December 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act (SAB 118), which allowed us to record provisional amounts during a measurement period not to extend beyond one year of the enactment date. As a result,
we previously recorded a provisional estimate of the effect of the Tax Act in our financial statements. The resulting decrease in our net deferred tax asset was
offset by a reduction in our recorded valuation allowance which resulted in no net effect on our results of operations, cash flows, or financial position. Our
analysis determined the full effect of the change in tax law and recorded immaterial adjustments in fiscal year 2018.
The accounting guidance for income taxes provides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that
the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation, based on the technical merits. The guidance also
provides information on measurement, de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
We recognize tax liabilities in accordance with accounting guidance on income taxes, and we adjust these liabilities when our judgment changes as a result
of the evaluation of new information not previously available. Due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a
payment that is materially different from our current estimate of the tax liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax
expense in the period in which they are determined. Currently, we have no material unrecognized tax benefits on any open tax years.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS -- YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
Overview of Economic Conditions and Impact on Results of Operations
The economies in the markets in which our major water assets are located and serve, primarily northern Nevada and Arizona, continue to exhibit robust
growth, which we believe will lead to demand for our water assets in those markets. We believe that current trends in employment, housing inventory, home
prices, and low interest rates, will have a positive impact on our operating performance. There has been an increase in real estate development activity in the
markets where our assets will ultimately be used, and we believe that will lead to increased demand for our intangible and tangible water assets. Individual
markets continue to experience varying results, as local home inventories, affordability, and employment factors strongly influence each local market.
Deterioration in economic conditions in the markets where we operate, and/or if we fail to generate revenue, incur expenses beyond expectations, or incur
operating losses, could cause additional impairment losses on our water assets.
Our revenues and results of operations fluctuate from period to period. For example, we recognize revenue from the sale of water assets when specific
transactions close, and as a result, sales of water assets for any individual period are not necessarily indicative of revenues for future periods or the full financial
year.
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PICO Holdings, Inc. Shareholders’ Equity (in thousands):
December 31,
2019

2018

Change

Shareholders’ equity

$

178,255

$

176,624

$

1,631

Shareholders’ equity per share

$

9.01

$

8.52

$

0.49

The increase in shareholders’ equity during 2019 of $1.6 million was due primarily to monetization of water and real estate assets generating a gross margin
of $20.1 million and offset by $8.5 million of net operating costs and the purchase of 944,000 shares of our common stock for $10 million.
Total Assets and Liabilities (in thousands):
December 31,
2019
Total assets
Total liabilities

$
$

181,089
2,834

2018
$
$

180,211
3,587

Change
$
$

878
(753)

Total assets increased during the year ended December 31, 2019, due to the increase in net cash generated in 2019 from asset sales and operating
income less operating and general and administrative costs and share repurchase costs; and a decrease in the carrying value of our water and real estate assets
arising from the cost of sales of assets monetized in 2019.
Results of Operations (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

Change

Total revenue and other income (loss)

$

29,398

$

13,051

$

16,347

Total costs and expenses

$

17,872

$

16,370

$

1,502

Revenue and other income (loss)
The majority of our revenue recorded for the year ended December 31, 2019 was from the sale of 25,000 long-term storage credits in the Phoenix Active
Management Area for $8.7 million ($347.50 per credit), the sale of land and water rights at Dodge Flat, Nevada, for total proceeds of $12.0 million and the sale of
134 acre-feet of water rights from our Fish Springs Ranch inventory for $4.7 million.
The majority of our revenue recorded for the year ended December 31, 2018, was from the sale of approximately 511 acre-feet of water rights from our
Carson/Lyon project for $10.3 million and the sale of 76.9 acre-feet of water rights from our Fish Springs Ranch inventory for $2.7 million.
Costs and Expenses
Cost of water assets and real estate sold:
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded a total of $8.5 million in cost of real estate and water assets of which $3.1 million related to our sale
of 25,260 long-term storage credits in the Phoenix Active Management Area as well as cost of real estate and water assets sold of $1.7 million and $1.4 million
related to our Dodge Flat and Fish Springs Ranch sales, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2018 we recorded a total of $5.2 million in cost of
real estate and water assets, of which $4.9 million relates to sales of approximately 622 acre-feet of water rights.
General, Administrative and Other Costs:
During the years ended December 31, 2019, and 2018, we recorded general and administrative and project costs of $9 million and $11.0 million,
respectively. The decrease in these costs was primarily due to a year over year decrease of $737,000 in total compensation, severance and bonus expenses
and approximately $700,000 in legal, consulting and other expenses, as a result of the decrease in activity in 2019 on our Campbell Ranch project in New
Mexico.
25

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded an impairment loss of $1.3 million due to a write down in the value of an investment in an
unconsolidated affiliate to zero. This impairment loss is recorded within impairment loss on investment in unconsolidated affiliate in our consolidated financial
statements. Additionally, we wrote off $1 million in notes and interest receivable from the same unconsolidated affiliate, which is recorded within general,
administrative, and other in our consolidated financial statements. During 2018, we continued to reduce headcount and transitioned to the new corporate office in
Carson City, Nevada.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Stock-based compensation expense is calculated based on the fair value of the award on the grant date and is recognized over the vesting period of the
awards. As of December 31, 2019, there was no unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock units (“RSU”).
The stock-based compensation expense consisted primarily of the following awards (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
RSU - Officers
RSU - Directors

2018

$

—
87

$

87

RSU - Management

$

199
223

$

425

—

Total stock-based compensation expense

3

Income Taxes
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) enacted on December 22, 2017, resulted in significant changes to the U.S. corporate income tax system.
The changes were effective beginning in 2018 and include a federal statutory rate reduction from 35% to 21%, the elimination or reduction of certain domestic
deductions and credits and limitations on the deductibility of interest expense and executive compensation as well as limitations on the use of future net operating
losses. Changes in tax rates and tax laws are accounted for in the period of enactment; consequently, during the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded
a reduction in our net deferred tax asset to reduce the value of each deferred tax attribute to 21%, which was offset by a reduction in the recorded valuation
allowance resulting in no net effect to the current period income tax provision. In the fourth quarter of 2018, we completed our analysis to determine the effect of
the Tax Act and recorded immaterial adjustments as of December 22, 2018. We continue to record a full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets.
However, we recorded tax expense of $0 and $53,000 during the years ended December 31, 2019, and 2018, respectively, resulting in an effective tax rate for
the years ended December 31, 2019, and 2018, of 0.0% and 1.6%, respectively. The effective tax rate differed from our federal corporate income tax rate of
21% due primarily to the valuation allowance changes recorded on our net deferred tax assets in 2019 and 2018.
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Agribusiness:
In February 2017, we received the final $6 million that had been held in escrow for general indemnification claims related to the sale of our discontinued
agribusiness operations. We guaranteed up to $8 million for any environmental indemnification claims in excess of the $6 million general indemnification escrow
pursuant to the terms of the sale. This guaranty will remain in force until July 31, 2020. The guaranty has been recorded at estimated fair value that reflects our
expectation that no significant amounts will be paid out under the guaranty. However, any amounts paid by us under the guaranty in excess of this estimate will
result in additional loss on the sale.
See Note 12,“Discontinued Operations” for additional information about these transactions.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES -- YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 and 2018
A substantial portion of our historical revenue and cash flow has, and is expected in the future, to come from one-time sales of our assets which are
primarily long-term water resource development projects that we expect to support economic growth in the local markets where the assets are located. The
timing and amount of sales and cash flows depend on a number of factors which are difficult to predict and cannot be directly compared from one period to
another. However, given our cash balances at December 31, 2019, we currently believe that we have sufficient resources to cover our expenses for at least the
next 12 months. In the long-term, we estimate that cash from operations will provide us with adequate funding for future operations. However, if additional
funding is needed, we could defer significant expenditures, obtain a line of credit, or complete a debt or equity offering. Any additional equity offerings may be
dilutive to our shareholders and any additional debt offerings may include operating covenants that could restrict our business. We are currently not subject to
any debt covenants which might limit our ability to obtain additional financing through debt or equity offerings. We classify the sale of and costs incurred to
acquire and develop our water assets as operating activities in our consolidated statement of cash flows.
Our Operations
The majority of our cash inflows for the year ended December 31, 2019, was from $28.6 million in sales of various real estate and water rights assets. This
was offset by $13.8 million of cash used for overhead, various project expenses, and acquisition of groundwater rights in Lyon County, Nevada. Additionally, we
used $10.0 million in cash to repurchase shares of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2019.
The majority of our cash inflows for the year ended December 31, 2018, was from $13.6 million in sales of various real estate and water rights assets. This
was offset by $10.8 million of cash used for overhead and various project expenses. Additionally, we used $27.6 million in cash to repurchase shares of our
common stock during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Discontinued Operations
During 2017 we sold our real estate operations, and during 2015 we sold our agribusiness operations.
We guaranteed up to $8 million for any indemnification claims related to the sale of our agribusiness operations in excess of a $6 million general
indemnification escrow. Pursuant to the terms of the guaranty agreement with the buyer, the guaranty will remain in force until July 31, 2020.
Consolidated Cash and Securities
We have adequate working capital reserves. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had unrestricted and available cash and securities of $18.2 million and
$12.6 million, respectively, which could be used for general corporate purposes and the exercise of options held by us for the acquisition of groundwater rights in
Lyon County, Nevada.
Cash Flow
Our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities - continuing operations
Operating activities - discontinued operations

$

Total operating activities

15,613
—

$

15,613

Investing activities - continuing operations
Total investing activities
Financing activities - continuing operations

3,349
(313)
3,036

(12)

62

(12)

62

(9,982)

(27,676)

Total financing activities

$

(9,982)

$

(27,676)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

5,619

$

(24,578)
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Cash Flows From Operating Activities
During 2019, we generated cash of $15.6 million in our continuing operations. This was primarily derived from $28.6 million in cash receipts from sales of
various real estate and water rights assets and $786,000 of lease and other revenue. This was offset by approximately $9.6 million of cash used for overhead
and various project expenses, and $4.2 million used for the acquisition of groundwater rights in Lyon County, Nevada.
During 2018, we generated cash of $3.3 million in our continuing operations which was derived primarily from $13.6 million in cash receipts from the sale of
various real estate and water assets, which was offset by approximately $10.8 million of cash used for overhead and various project expenses.
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
We had no material cash flows from investing activities during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we used $10.0 million and $27.6 million in cash, respectively, to repurchase shares of our common
stock. We had no other significant financing activities during the years.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2019, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements, other than those discussed throughout this document, that have, or are reasonably
likely to have, a material current or future effect on our consolidated financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital
expenditures, or capital resources.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Our financial statements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the Report of the
Registered Independent Public Accounting Firm are included in this report as listed in the index.
SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data (in thousands, except per share amounts) for 2019 and 2018 are shown below. In management’s opinion, the
interim financial statements from which the following data has been derived contain all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of results for such interim
periods and are of a normal recurring nature.
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2019
Sale of real estate and water assets

$

11,982

Other

June 30, 2019
$

138

2,430

September 30, 2019

December 31, 2019

$

$

10,150

233

4,051
204

210

Total revenue and other income

$

12,120

$

2,663

$

4,255

$

10,360

Gross profit - real estate and water assets

$

9,400

$

724

$

3,345

$

6,649

Income (loss) from continuing operations

$

6,684

$

(1,118)

$

1,379

$

4,581

Net income (loss) attributable to PICO Holdings, Inc.

$

6,684

$

(1,118)

$

1,379

$

4,581

$

0.33

$

(0.06)

$

0.07

$

0.23

Net income (loss) per common share – basic and diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
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Three Months Ended
March 31, 2018

September 30,
2018

June 30, 2018

December 31, 2018

Sale of real estate and water assets
Impairment loss on investment in unconsolidated affiliate
Other

$

247
—
97

$

10,480
—
132

$

230
(1,312)
388

$

2,680
—
109

Total revenue and other income (loss)

$

344

$

10,612

$

(694)

$

2,789

Gross profit - real estate and water assets

$

28

$

6,339

$

132

$

1,892

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

$
$

(2,862)
—

$
$

4,259
43

$
$

(4,669)
—

$
$

(100)
—

Net income (loss) attributable to PICO Holdings, Inc.

$

(2,862)

$

4,302

$

(4,669)

$

(100)

$

(0.12)

$

0.19

$

(0.21)

$

(0.01)

Net income (loss) per common share – basic and diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
PICO Holdings, Inc.
Carson City, Nevada
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PICO Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or loss, shareholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 12, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Las Vegas, Nevada
March 12, 2020
We have served as the Company’s auditors since 1997.
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PICO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2019 and 2018
(In thousands)
2019

2018

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Tangible water assets and real estate, net
Intangible assets
Right of use assets, net

18,169

$

39,398
122,343

Other assets
$

Total assets

12,550
44,298
121,917

166

—

1,013

1,446

181,089

$

166

$

180,211

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Operating lease liabilities

$

Other liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

—

2,359
309

3,448
139

2,834

3,587

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; authorized 10,000 shares, none issued
Common stock, $0.001 par value; authorized 100,000 shares, 20,068 issued and 19,784 outstanding at December 31,
2019, and 20,848 issued and 20,726 outstanding at December 31, 2018
Additional paid-in capital

20
345,234

21
353,250

Accumulated deficit
Treasury stock, at cost (common shares: 284 and 121 at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively)

(164,010)
(2,989)

(175,536)
(1,111)

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies

Total PICO Holdings, Inc. shareholders’ equity

178,255
$

Total liabilities and equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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181,089

176,624
$

180,211

PICO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR LOSS
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(In thousands, except per share data)
2019

2018

Revenues and other income:
Sale of real estate and water assets
Impairment loss on investment in unconsolidated affiliate

$

Other income, net
Total revenues and other income

28,613
—

$

13,637
(1,312)

785

726

29,398

13,051

8,495
8,963

5,246
11,048

Cost of sales and expenses:
Cost of water assets and real estate sold
General, administrative, and other

414

76

Total costs and expenses

Depreciation and amortization

17,872

16,370

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

11,526

Provision for federal and state income taxes
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax

(3,319)

—

(53)

11,526

(3,372)

—

Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax

43

—
$

Net income (loss) attributable to PICO Holdings, Inc.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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11,526

43
$

(3,329)

PICO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR LOSS, CONTINUED
(In thousands, except per share data)
2019

2018

Other comprehensive loss:
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:

$

Unrealized loss on securities, net of deferred income tax and reclassification adjustments

11,526

$

—

Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax

(544)

—
$

Comprehensive loss attributable to PICO Holdings, Inc.

(3,329)

(544)

11,526

$

0.57

$

(3,873)

Net income (loss) per common share – basic and diluted:
$

Income (loss) from continuing operations

20,154

Weighted average shares outstanding
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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(0.15)
22,074

PICO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the year ended December 31, 2019
(In thousands)
Shares of
Common
Stock Issued

Beginning balance, December 31, 2018
Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of restricted stock units
Withholding taxes paid on vested restricted
stock units
Purchases of treasury stock
Retirement of treasury stock
Net income
Ending balance, December 31, 2019

20,848

Common
Stock

$

Additional Paid-in
Capital

21

$

353,250

Accumulated
Deficit

$

Shares of
Treasury Stock

(175,536)

121

Treasury Stock,
at Cost

$

(1,111)

Total

$

87

87
—

1
(5)
(781)

(1)

(8,098)

944

(9,977)

(781)

8,099

(5)
(9,977)
—
11,526

11,526
20,068

$

20

$

345,234

$

(164,010)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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176,624

284

$

(2,989)

$

178,255

PICO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the year ended December 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Shares of
Common
Stock Issued

Beginning balance, December 31, 2017
Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of restricted stock units
Withholding taxes paid on vested
restricted stock units
Purchases of treasury stock

23,154

Common
Stock

$

23

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$ 379,388
425

$ (172,767)

$

Shares of
Treasury
Stock

544

1

Treasury
Stock,
at Cost

$

(25)

Total

$

28

(2,334)

(2)

(26,508)

Net loss
Reclassification of unrealized gain on
investments to accumulated deficit

2,455

(27,621)

(2,334)

26,510

(1)

25

(55)
(27,621)
—

25

(3,329)

(3,329)

560
20,848

207,163
425
—

(55)

Retirement of treasury stock
Distribution of treasury stock to deferred
compensation plan participant (former
CEO)

Ending balance, December 31, 2018

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

$

21

$ 353,250

$ (175,536)

(544)
$

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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16
121

$ (1,111)

$

176,624

PICO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(In thousands)
2019

2018

Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense

$

11,526

$

58

Stock-based compensation expense
Loss on sale or impairment of investments
Net (income) from discontinued operations, net

76

87
—
—

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions:
Notes and other receivables
Real estate, water, and intangible assets
Income taxes
Other assets
Deferred compensation
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

425
1,304
(43)

12

—

37
4,473
275

1,065
5,246
—

(103)
—
(752)

Other operating activities, net

(3,329)

30
(2,247)
816

—

6

Cash provided by operating activities - continuing operations
Cash used in operating activities - discontinued operations

15,613
—

3,349
(313)

Net cash provided by operating activities

15,613

3,036

Investing activities:
Proceeds from maturity of investments
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

—
(12)

80
(18)

(12)

62

Financing activities:
Payment of withholding taxes on exercise of restricted stock units
Purchases of treasury stock

(5)
(9,977)

(55)
(27,621)

Net cash used in financing activities

(9,982)

(27,676)

5,619

(24,578)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

12,550
$

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
37

18,169

37,128
$

12,550

PICO HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(In thousands)
2019

2018

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid (received) during the year for:
$

Payment (refund) of federal and state income taxes

(275)

$

53

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Issuance of common stock for vested restricted stock units
Distribution of debt and equity securities in satisfaction of deferred compensation liability (including 1,375 shares of
treasury stock in 2018)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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$

6

$

263

$

—

$

1,866
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1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Operations:
PICO Holdings, Inc., together with its subsidiaries (collectively, “PICO” or the “Company”), is a holding company. As of December 31, 2019, the Company
has presented its consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements using the guidelines prescribed for real
estate companies, as the majority of the Company’s assets and operations are primarily engaged in real estate and related activities.
The Company’s most significant operating subsidiary as of December 31, 2019 was Vidler Water Company, Inc. (“Vidler”), a Nevada corporation. Vidler owns
water resources and water storage in the southwestern United States, with assets and operations in Nevada, Arizona, Colorado, and New Mexico. Currently,
Vidler is primarily focused on selling its existing water rights and storage credits.
Smaller Reporting Company:
The Company qualifies as a Smaller Reporting Company (“SRC”) under the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) definition and therefore certain
disclosures that are no longer required have been removed in accordance with the SEC’s disclosure requirements for SRCs.
Principles of Consolidation:
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned, majority-owned and controlled
subsidiaries, and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements:
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses for each reporting period. The significant estimates made in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements relate to intangibles,
real estate and water assets, deferred income taxes, stock-based compensation, and contingent liabilities. While management believes that the carrying value of
such assets and liabilities were appropriate as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, it is reasonably possible that actual results could differ from the
estimates upon which the carrying values were based.
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Tangible Water Assets and Real Estate:
Tangible water assets and real estate include the cost of certain tangible water assets, water storage credits and related storage facilities, real estate,
including raw land and improvements. The Company capitalizes pre-acquisition costs, the purchase price of real estate, development costs and other allocated
costs, including any interest, during development and construction. Pre-acquisition costs, including non-refundable land deposits, are expensed to cost of sales
when the Company determines continuation of the related project is not probable.
Additional costs to develop or otherwise get tangible water and real estate assets ready for their intended use are capitalized. These costs typically include
direct construction costs, legal fees, engineering, consulting, direct cost of drilling wells or related construction, and any interest costs capitalized on qualifying
assets during the development period. The Company expenses all maintenance and repair costs. The types of costs capitalized are consistent across periods
presented. Tangible water assets consist of various water interests in development or awaiting permitting. Amortization of real estate improvements is computed
on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the improvements ranging from 5 to 15 years.
Intangible Water Assets:
Intangible water assets include the costs of indefinite-lived intangible assets and is comprised of water rights and the exclusive right to use two water
transportation pipelines. The Company capitalizes development and entitlement costs and other allocated costs, including any interest, during the development
period of the assets to tangible water assets and transfers the costs to intangible water assets when water rights are permitted. Water rights consist of various
water interests acquired or developed independently or in conjunction with the acquisition of real estate. When the Company purchases intangible water assets
that are attached to real estate, an allocation of the total purchase price, including any direct costs of the acquisition, is made at the date of acquisition based on
the estimated relative fair values of the water rights and the real estate.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least annually in the fourth quarter, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired, by comparing the fair value of the assets to their carrying amounts. The fair value
of the intangible assets is calculated using discounted cash flow models that incorporate a wide range of assumptions including current asset pricing, price
escalation, discount rates, absorption rates, timing of sales, and costs. These models are sensitive to minor changes in any of the input variables.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:
The Company records an impairment loss when the condition exists where the carrying amount of a long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable.
Impairment of long-lived assets is triggered when the estimated future undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, for the lowest level for which there is
identifiable cash flows that are independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets do not exceed the carrying amount. The Company prepares and
analyzes cash flows at appropriate levels of grouped assets. If the events or circumstances indicate that the remaining balance may be impaired, such
impairment will be measured based upon the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of such assets determined using the estimated future
discounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, generated from the use and ultimate disposition of the respective long-lived asset.
Noncontrolling Interests:
The Company reports the share of the results of operations that are attributable to other owners of its consolidated subsidiaries that are less than whollyowned as noncontrolling interest in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. In the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income
or loss, the income or loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest is reported separately and the accumulated income or loss attributable to the noncontrolling
interest, along with any changes in ownership of the subsidiary, is reported within shareholders’ equity.
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid instruments, purchased with original maturities of three months or less.
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Other Assets:
Other assets include the following significant account balances:
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net:
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated
lives of the assets. Buildings and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or lease term and range from 15 to 30 years, office
furniture and fixtures are generally depreciated over seven years, and computer equipment is depreciated over three years. Maintenance and repairs are
charged to expense as incurred, while significant improvements are capitalized. Gains or losses on the sale of property, plant and equipment are included in
other income.
Accounts payable and accrued expenses:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses includes trade payables and accrued construction payables.
Deferred Compensation:
The Company reports the investment returns generated in the deferred compensation accounts in other income with a corresponding expense recognized
in general and administrative costs. In July 2017, the Company’s board of directors elected to terminate the Company’s deferred compensation plans. In
accordance with applicable regulations, distribution of the assets and settlement of the deferred compensation obligation was made to the participants in July
2018.
Other Liabilities:
Other liabilities includes primarily employee benefits, unearned revenues, option payments and deposits received.
Revenue Recognition:
Sale of Real Estate and Water Assets:
Revenue recognition on the sale of real estate and water assets conforms with accounting literature related to the sale of real estate, and is recognized in
full when there is a legally binding sale contract, the profit is determinable (the collectability of the sales price is reasonably assured, or any amount that will not
be collectible can be estimated), the earnings process is virtually complete (the Company is not obligated to perform significant activities after the sale to earn
the profit, meaning the Company has transferred all risks and rewards to the buyer). If these conditions are not met, the Company records the cash received as
deferred revenue until the conditions to recognize full profit are met.
Other Income, Net:
Included in other income are various transactional results including realized gains and losses from the sale of investments and property, plant and
equipment, interest income, sales of oil and gas, and other sources not considered to be the core focus of the existing operating entities within the group.
Cost of Sales:
Cost of Real Estate and Water Assets:
Cost of real estate and water assets sold includes direct costs of the acquisition of the asset less any impairment losses previously recorded against the
asset, development costs incurred to get the asset ready for use, and any capitalized interest costs incurred during the development period.
General, Administrative, and Other:
General, administrative, and other costs include salaries and benefits, stock-based compensation, consulting, audit, tax, legal, insurance, property taxes, rent
and utilities, and other general operating expenses.
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Stock-Based Compensation:
Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair values of the awards, calculated using the closing stock price on the
date of grant, and is recognized as expense over the period in which the share-based compensation vests using the straight-line method. When an employee
restricted stock unit (“RSU”) vests, the recipient receives a new share of PICO common stock for each RSU, less the number of shares of common stock equal
in value to applicable withholding taxes. When an RSU is forfeited, all previously recognized expense is reversed during the respective forfeiture year and the
remaining unamortized expense is canceled.
Accounting for Income Taxes:
The Company’s provision for income tax expense includes federal and state income taxes currently payable and those deferred because of temporary
differences between the income tax and financial reporting bases of the assets and liabilities. The asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes also
requires the Company to reflect the effect of a tax rate change on accumulated deferred income taxes in income in the period in which the change is enacted.
In assessing the realization of deferred income taxes, management considers whether it is more likely than not that any deferred income tax assets will be
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the period in which temporary
differences become deductible. If it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized a valuation allowance is
recorded. A t December 31, 2019, the Company concluded that it is likely that not all of its deferred tax assets will be realized, and accordingly, a valuation
allowance was recorded against the deferred tax assets that are not expected to be realized.
The Company recognizes any uncertain income tax positions on income tax returns at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon
audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized unless it has a greater than a 50% likelihood of being sustained.
The Company recognizes any interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”), enacted in December 2017, resulted in significant changes to the U.S. tax law by, among other things,
reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%, elimination or reduction of certain domestic deductions and credits, and limitations on the
deductibility of interest expense and executive compensation as well as limitations on the use of future net operating losses. In December 2017, the SEC staff
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (SAB 118), which allowed the Company to record
provisional amounts during a measurement period not to extend beyond one year of the enactment date. As a result, the Company recorded a provisional
estimate of the effect of the Tax Act in its 2017 financial statements. In 2018, the Company completed its analysis to determine the effect of the Tax Act and
recorded immaterial adjustments in fiscal year ended 2018. As the Company’s deferred tax asset is offset by a full valuation allowance, the change in rates had
no impact on the financial position or results of operations.
Loss per Share:
Basic earnings or loss per share was computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings or loss per share was computed similarly to basic earnings or loss per share except the weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include
additional shares from the assumed exercise of any common stock equivalents using the treasury method, if dilutive. The Company’s free-standing stock
appreciation rights (“SAR”), performance-based price-contingent stock options (“PBO”), and RSU are considered common stock equivalents for this purpose. The
number of additional shares related to these common stock equivalents is calculated using the treasury stock method.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s common stock equivalents were excluded from the diluted per share calculation because their
effect on earnings per share was anti-dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2019 there was no anti-dilution.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance which establishes a right-of-use model that requires a lessee to
record a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than twelve months. Leases will be classified as
either "finance" or "operating," with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. This update requires a modified
retrospective transition as of the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. This update is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted.
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The Company adopted this lease standard effective January 1, 2019, applying an optional transition method that will allow the Company to continue to
apply the current guidance of ASC 840 in the comparative periods in the year of adoption. The Company has elected the “package of practical expedients,”
which permits the Company not to reassess prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs. The Company has also
made an accounting policy election to not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities for leases with terms of 12 months or less. The adoption of this guidance has
resulted in the recording of additional ROU assets and lease liabilities for operating leases of $522,000 as of January 1, 2019. The adoption of this guidance did
not have an impact on net income.
In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance regarding revenue from contracts with customers, which provides a consistent revenue accounting model across
industries. The Company has reviewed this update and other guidance that was subsequently issued to further clarify the implementation guidance. Under this
guidance, revenue is recognized as the transfer of goods and services to customers takes place and in amounts that reflect the payment or payments that are
expected to be received from the customers for those goods and services and requires new disclosures about revenue. The Company adopted the guidance
effective January 1, 2018 which did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
2.

TANGIBLE WATER ASSETS AND REAL ESTATE, NET
The cost assigned to the various components of tangible water and real estate assets were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2019

Tangible water assets

$

2018

26,570

Real estate and improvements held and used, net of accumulated amortization of $12,003 at December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018

9,469

Other real estate inventories

3,359
$

Total tangible water and real estate assets, net

39,398

$

29,622
9,469
5,207

$

44,298

The Company’s real estate improvements were fully depreciated at December 31, 2016.
3.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Company’s carrying amounts of its intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2019

Pipeline rights and water credits at Fish Springs Ranch
Pipeline rights and water rights at Carson-Lyon
Other
Total intangible assets

2018

$

81,724
25,644
14,975

$

83,108
21,542
17,267

$

122,343

$

121,917

Fish Springs Ranch Pipeline Rights and Water Credits:
There are 13,000 acre-feet per-year of permitted water rights at Fish Springs Ranch. The existing permit allows up to 8,000 acre-feet of water per year to be
exported to support the development in the Reno, Nevada area. As at December 31, 2019, the Company has sold 227 acre-feet of water credits. The current
book value represents the remaining 12,773 acre-feet of water credits. Under a settlement agreement signed in 2007, the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe (the
“Tribe”) agreed to not oppose any permitting activities for the pumping and export of groundwater in excess of 8,000 acre-feet of water per year, and in
exchange, Fish Springs Ranch will pay the Tribe 12% of the gross sales price for each acre-foot of additional water that Fish Springs Ranch sells in excess of
8,000 acre-feet per year, up to 13,000 acre-feet per year. The obligation to expense and pay the 12% fee is due only if and when the Company sells water in
excess of 8,000 acre-feet, and accordingly, Fish Springs Ranch will record the liability for such amounts as they become due upon the sale of any such excess
water. Currently, Fish Springs Ranch does not have regulatory approval to export any water in excess of 8,000 acre-feet per year from Fish Springs Ranch to
support further development in northern Reno, and it is uncertain whether such regulatory approval will be granted in the future.
43

Carson-Lyon Pipeline Rights and Water Rights:
During the year ended December 31, 2019 an additional 279 acre-feet of municipal and industrial designated groundwater rights were purchased for $ 4.2
million.
Impairment Losses:
There were no impairment losses recognized on intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
4.

LEASES
The Company has operating leases for two offices (Carson City, Nevada and La Jolla, California) which include monthly rental payments.
Leases consisted of the following (in thousands):

Leases

December 31, 2019

Assets
Operating lease ROU assets, net (1)
Liabilities

$

166

Operating lease liabilities

$

166

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term
(1)

0.5 years

Operating lease ROU assets are recorded net of accumulated amortization of $356,000 as of December 31, 2019.
Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows for operating leases
5.

$

INVESTMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had no available-for-sale investments.
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356

Included in other income, net in the accompanying consolidated financial statements is the net realized gain or loss on investments (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

Gross realized gains:
Debt securities
Equity securities and other investments

$

Total gain
Gross realized losses:

—
—

$

82
2

—

Debt securities
Equity securities and other investments

84

—
—

(1)

Total loss

(16)
(1,355)

—
$

Net realized gain (loss)

—

(1,371)
$

(1,287)

(1) Included

within this caption for the year ended December 31, 2018 is $1.3 million that is reported in a separate line, impairment loss on unconsolidated
affiliate, within the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or loss for the year then ended.
Other Investments:
Investment in Spigit Holdings Corporation (formerly Mindjet, Inc):
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded an impairment charge of $1.3 million to write down the value of the Company’s investment in Spigit
to zero. Additionally, the Company wrote off $1 million in notes and interest receivable from Spigit. In December 2018, Spigit was merged with another unrelated
company and PICO received no compensation or obtained any ownership in the newly formed company.
6.

DISCLOSURES ABOUT FAIR VALUE

Recurring Fair Value Measurements
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 there were no assets or liabilities measured at fair value.
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific
to the asset.
The following table sets forth the Company’s non-financial assets that were measured at fair value, on a non-recurring basis, by level within the fair value
hierarchy during the year ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
Quoted Prices In
Active
Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Asset Description
Investment in unconsolidated affiliate

(1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)
$

(1)

—

Total Loss
$

1,312

The Company recorded an impairment loss of $1.3 million to write down the value of its investment in Spigit to fair value, which was zero. The fair value
approach relied primarily on Level 3 unobservable inputs including potential offers to purchase the entity. The inputs were based upon assumptions believed to
be reasonable, but which by their nature are uncertain and unpredictable. Spigit was subsequently merged with another entity as described in note 4,
“Investments.”
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Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The level within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value measurements are classified include measurements using quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1), quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active (Level 2), and significant valuation assumptions that are not readily observable in the market (Level 3).
As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable, and accounts receivable approximated their carrying
values because of the short-term nature of these assets or liabilities.
7.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases some of its offices under non-cancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through 2020. Rent expense for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 for office space was $356,000 and $354,000, respectively.
Future minimum payments under all operating leases were as follows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,
2020
Thereafter
Total

$

166
—

$

166

Neither PICO nor its subsidiaries are parties to any potentially material pending legal proceedings.
The Company is subject to various litigation matters that arise in the ordinary course of its business. Because litigation is inherently unpredictable and
unfavorable resolutions could occur, assessing contingencies is highly subjective and requires judgments about future events. When evaluating contingencies,
the Company may be unable to provide a meaningful estimate due to a number of factors, including the procedural status of the matter in question, the presence
of complex or novel legal theories, and/or the ongoing discovery and development of information important to the matters. In addition, damage amounts claimed
in litigation against the Company may be unsupported, exaggerated or unrelated to possible outcomes, and as such are not meaningful indicators of the
Company’s potential liability. The Company regularly reviews contingencies to determine the adequacy of accruals and related disclosures. The amount of
ultimate loss may differ from these estimates, and it is possible that the Company’s consolidated financial statements could be materially affected in any
particular period by the unfavorable resolution of one or more of these contingencies.
Whether any losses finally determined in any claim, action, investigation or proceeding could reasonably have a material effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows will depend on a number of variables, including: the timing and amount of such losses; the structure and
type of any remedies; the significance of the impact any such losses, damages or remedies may have on the consolidated financial statements; and the unique
facts and circumstances of the particular matter that may give rise to additional factors.
8.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

A t December 31, 2019, the Company had one stock-based payment arrangement outstanding, the PICO Holdings, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2014 Plan”).
The 2014 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 3.3 million shares of common stock in the form of performance-based price-contingent stock options
(“PBO”), restricted stock unit (“RSU”), stock-settled stock appreciation rights (“SAR”), non-statutory stock options, restricted stock awards (“RSA”), performance
shares, performance units, deferred compensation awards, and other stock-based awards to employees, directors, and consultants of the Company (or any
present or future parent or subsidiary corporation or other affiliated entity of the Company). The 2014 Plan allows for broker assisted cashless exercises and
net-settlement of income taxes and employee withholding taxes. Upon exercise of a PBO, RSU, and SAR, the employee will receive newly issued shares of
PICO common stock with a fair value equal to the in-the-money value of the award, less applicable federal, state and local withholding and income taxes
(however, the holder can elect to pay withholding taxes in cash).
The Company recorded total stock-based compensation expense of $87,000 and $425,000 during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
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Performance-Based Options (PBO):
At various times, the Company has awarded PBO to various members of management. All of the PBO issued contain a market condition based on the
achievement of a stock price target during the contractual term and vest monthly over a three-year period. The vested portion of the options may be exercised
only if the 30-trading-day average closing sales price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds 125% of the grant date stock price. The stock price
contingency may be met any time before the options expire and it only needs to be met once for the PBO to remain exercisable for the remainder of the term.
Compensation expense is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award, which is the vesting period of the award.
However, any unrecognized compensation expense for unvested awards can be accelerated if the vesting period is modified.
The estimated fair value of the Company’s PBO was determined using a Monte Carlo model, which incorporated the following assumptions:
2014
10-Year Option
Grant date

11/14/2014

Expiration date
Grant date stock price
Historical volatility
Risk-free rate (annualized)
Dividend yield (annualized)

11/14/2024
19.51
35.00%
2.38%
—%

$

PBO granted
Weighted average grant date fair value
Fair value of award on grant date

167,619
6.51
1,475,705

$
$

The determination of the fair value of PBO using an option valuation model is affected by the Company’s stock price, as well as assumptions regarding a
number of complex and subjective variables. The volatility is calculated through an analysis based on historical daily returns of PICO’s stock over a look-back
period equal to the PBO contractual term. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon a risk-neutral framework using the 10-year zero-coupon risk-free
interest rates derived from the treasury constant maturities yield curve on the grant date, for the 10-year PBO award. The dividend yield assumption was based
on the expectation of no future dividend payouts by the Company.
A summary of PBO activity was as follows:
PerformanceBased Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per
Share

Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted
Forfeited

167,619
—
—

$

14.51

Outstanding at December 31,2018
Granted
Forfeited

167,619
—
—

$

14.51

Outstanding at December 31, 2019

167,619

$

14.51

At December 31, 2019, 167,619 PBO outstanding are exercisable for up to 10 years from the grant date.
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PerformanceBased Options
Vested at December 31, 2017

167,619

Weighted-Average
Contractual Term
Remaining (Years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value

$

14.51

6.9 $

—

167,619
—
—

$

14.51

5.9 $

—

167,619

$

14.51

4.9 $

—

Vested
Forfeited
Vested at December 31, 2018
Vested
Forfeited

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per
Share

—
—
(1)

Vested at December 31, 2019

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no PBO exercisable as the market condition had not been met. The was no unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested PBO at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Restricted Stock Units (RSU):
RSU awards the recipient, who must be continuously employed by the Company until the vesting date, unless the employment contracts stipulate otherwise,
the right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock. RSU issued to management do not vote and are not entitled to receive dividends, however the
RSU issued to the Company’s directors are entitled to dividends.
A summary of RSU activity was as follows:
Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value Per Share

RSU Shares
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, 2017
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

10,475
19,716
(30,191)
—

$
$
$
$

19.51
12.59
14.99
—

Outstanding and unvested at December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested

—
9,268
(9,268)

$
$
$

—
9.44
9.44

—

$

—

—

$

—

Forfeited
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, 2019
There was no unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSU for the years ended December 31, 2019, and 2018.
9.

FEDERAL AND STATE CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

As a result of the Tax Act, the Company remeasured its net deferred tax assets and corresponding valuation allowance using a federal rate of 21% during
the year ended December 31, 2019, which resulted in no net impact to the income tax provision. The Company and its subsidiaries file a consolidated federal
income tax return. Companies that are less than 80% owned corporations, or entities that are treated as partnerships for federal income tax purposes, file
separate federal income tax returns. All of the Company’s pre-tax loss from continuing operations in each of the two years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
was generated in the U.S. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
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The Company’s income tax (provision) benefit for federal and state income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Current tax (provision) benefit

2018

$

—

Deferred tax provision

$

(53)

—
$

Total income tax provision

—

—
$

(53)

The difference between income taxes provided at the Company’s federal statutory rate and effective tax rate was as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Federal income tax (provision) benefit at statutory rate
Change in valuation allowance
State taxes, net of federal benefit

$

2018

(2,421)
3,038
(6)

Expired credits
Other

$

(614)
3
$

Total income tax provision

—

697
529
—
(1,056)
(223)

$

(53)

The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2019

2018

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating losses, capital losses, and tax credit carryforwards
Impairment loss on water assets
Employee benefits, including stock-based compensation
Excess tax basis in affiliate
Fixed assets

$

Other, net
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Revaluation of real estate and water assets
Other, net
Total deferred tax liabilities
Valuation allowance
$

Net deferred income tax asset

60,318
10,384
682
496
739

$

64,378
10,313
928
496
798

761

772

73,380

77,685

2,978
508

3,145
503

3,486
(69,894)

3,648
(74,037)

—

$

—

Deferred tax assets and liabilities and federal income tax expense in future years can be significantly affected by changes in circumstances that would
influence management’s conclusions as to the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances are established and maintained for deferred tax
assets on a “more likely than not” threshold. At December 31, 2011, the Company considered it more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would not be
realized and a full valuation allowance was provided. At December 31, 2019, after evaluating the positive and negative evidence, management concluded that
there was insufficient positive evidence to enable the Company to conclude that it was “more likely than not” that certain of these deferred tax assets would be
realized, and the Company continued to maintain a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets. However, given the Company’s more recent earnings
history, management believes that there is a reasonable possibility that within the next 12 months, sufficient positive evidence may become available to allow
management to reach a conclusion that a portion of the valuation allowance will no longer be needed. Release of valuation allowance would result in the
recognition of certain deferred tax assets with a corresponding decrease to income tax expense for the period the release is recorded. The exact timing and
amount of the valuation allowance release will be predicated on the basis of the level of profitability that the Company is able to actually achieve, and
demonstration of additional positive evidence such as reliable projections of future earnings.
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The Company had net operating loss carryforwards, federal tax credit carryforwards, and state capital loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2019, that will
expire if not utilized. The following table summarizes such carryforwards and their expiration as follows (in thousands):
Federal Net
Operating
Losses

State Net
Operating
Losses

Federal Tax
Credits

State and Federal
Capital Losses

Expire 2020

$—

$1,339

$9,508

$793

Expire 2021 through 2026

—

787

—

84,227

Expire 2027 through 2031

—

451

27,750

—

Expire 2032 through 2038

156,491

4,120

103,328

—

Total

$156,491

$6,697

$140,586

$85,020

Utilization of the Company's U.S. federal and certain state net operating loss and tax credit carryovers may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to
the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. Such an annual limitation could result in the expiration of
the net operating loss carryforwards before utilization. As of December 31, 2019, the Company believes that utilization of its federal net operating losses and
federal tax credits are not limited under any ownership change limitations provided under the Internal Revenue Code. The tax benefit preservation plan adopted
by the Company provides protections to preserve the Company’s ability to utilize its net operating loss carryforwards as a result of certain stock ownership
changes in the future.
The Company does not have any uncertain tax benefits recorded for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 . The Company’s policy is to recognize
interest and penalties related to uncertain tax benefits in its provision for income taxes. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 the Company has not
recorded any interest or penalties related to uncertain tax benefits.
The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various state jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2019, the Company's statute is open from 2016 and 2015
forward for federal and for state tax purposes, respectively.
10.

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
There was no accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 respectively.
The following table reports amounts that were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income and included in earnings (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019

Accumulated other comprehensive income - January 1
Unrealized gain reclassified and recognized in net loss, net of tax
Net change in other comprehensive income, net of tax

$
(1)

$

—
—
$

Accumulated other comprehensive income - December 31
(1)

2018
—

—

544
(544)
(544)

$

—

Amounts reclassified from this category are included in other income in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss.

11.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Deferred Compensation
In July 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors terminated the Company’s deferred compensation plans. In accordance with applicable regulations,
distribution of the remaining assets and settlement of the deferred compensation obligation was made in July 2018.
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Employment Agreements:
In connection with the appointment of Ms. Timian-Palmer as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and the appointment of Mr. Webb as the
Company’s Executive Chairman, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with Ms. Timian-Palmer (the “Palmer Employment Agreement”) and an
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Mr. Webb (the “Webb Employment Agreement”, and together with the Palmer Employment Agreement, the
“Employment Agreements”), each of which became effective on August 6, 2018. The Webb Employment Agreement supersedes the Employment Agreement
entered into by and between Mr. Webb and the Company, dated January 1, 2017.
Pursuant to the terms of the Employment Agreements, Ms. Timian-Palmer will earn an annual base salary of $389,000 and Mr. Webb will earn an annual
base salary of $210,800. Mr. Webb will accrue no amounts for paid vacation or personal time off during the term of the Webb Employment Agreement.
While Ms. Timian-Palmer and Mr. Webb will be employed on an at-will basis, the Employment Agreements provide that in the event that Ms. TimianPalmer’s or Mr. Webb’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without cause or Ms. Timian-Palmer or Mr. Webb resigns for good
reason, the Company will provide to such terminated individual, contingent upon a general release of claims against the Company, (i) with respect to Ms.
Timian-Palmer, a lump-sum payment equal to Ms. Timian-Palmer’s then-current base salary for a period equal to 36 months, and with respect to Mr. Webb, a
lump-sum payment equal to 24 months of Mr. Webb’s base salary as in effect immediately prior to his appointment as Executive Chairman, (ii) a bonus, if any,
pursuant to the Amended Bonus Plan (as defined below), in an amount determined by the Compensation Committee pursuant to the terms of the Amended
Bonus Plan and as described more fully below, (iii) payment of the cost of COBRA coverage for such individual and his or her dependents through the earlier of
a period of one year or the date such individual becomes eligible for health coverage from another employer, and (iv) full acceleration of the vesting of all
outstanding equity awards held by such individual.
Executive Bonus Plan:
O n August 2, 2018, the Company adopted an Amended and Restated Executive Bonus Plan (the “Amended Bonus Plan”) to provide for the payment of
bonuses to Ms. Timian-Palmer and Mr. Webb (collectively, the “Plan Participants”). The Amended Bonus Plan, which has a term of five years from January 1,
2018 through December 31, 2022, amends, restates and supersedes the Company’s Executive Bonus Plan adopted on December 14, 2016 (the “Prior Bonus
Plan”).
Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Bonus Plan, a pool of funds will be created for distribution on a yearly basis (the “Bonus Pool”). The first step in
calculating the Bonus Pool is to calculate the total revenues and other income of the Company during the year (other than any revenues or other income
attributed to the Company’s investments in Synthonics, Inc. and Mindjet Inc. and the Company’s deferred compensation plans (the “Excluded Assets”)) minus
(a) the gross invested capital for each asset of the Company (other than an Excluded Asset) that was sold or otherwise disposed of during such year, defined as
the book value of such asset as of the date of the sale (or other disposition) of such asset, as determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP and reflected in the
Company’s financial records as of such date, plus any impairment or depreciation charges taken by the Company with respect to such asset on or prior to such
date; (b) an amount equal to the aggregate of the gross invested capital for each relevant asset as determined pursuant to the immediately preceding clause (a),
multiplied by the amount of years (including any partial year) elapsed between January 1, 2018 and the date of the sale or other disposal of such asset,
multiplied by 5%; and (c) administrative expenses specified in the Amended Bonus Plan (such resulting amount, the “Total Net Gain”). For assets sold (or
otherwise disposed of) entirely or partially for non-cash consideration by the Company, the calculation of Total Net Gain with respect to the non-cash
consideration will instead be made in the year in which the non-cash consideration is ultimately sold (or otherwise disposed of) for cash by the Company.
The second step in calculating the Bonus Pool is to multiply the Total Net Gain by the “Adjustment Factor”, which is the greater of (i) a fraction, the
numerator of which is the total amount of cash distributed (or committed to be distributed) to the Company’s shareholders with respect to all such assets sold (or
otherwise disposed of) during the year, and the denominator of which is the total amount of cash received (after payment of all selling costs, including bankers’
fees and commissions) for which all such assets were sold (or otherwise disposed of) during the year, or (ii) such percentage (not to exceed 100%) as the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee”) determines in its sole discretion to utilize as the Adjustment Factor. The
amount that results from multiplying the Total Net Gain by the Adjustment Factor is the “Adjusted Net Gain.”
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The final step in calculating the Bonus Pool is to multiply the Adjusted Net Gain by 8.75%, which results in the actual Bonus Pool. The Bonus Pool will be
allocated 55% to Ms. Timian-Palmer and 45% to Mr. Webb. Each Plan Participant will be entitled to his or her allocated portion of the Bonus Pool for the year if
he or she is employed by the Company on the last day of the year. Any bonus paid pursuant to the Amended Bonus Plan will be paid 50% in the form of cash
and 50% in the form of a RSU award, except that if a Plan Participant incurs a separation from service prior to the date that such RSU awards are scheduled to
be granted, such bonus will be paid entirely in the form of cash. Such RSU awards shall be granted pursuant to the terms of the 2014 Plan, will be fully vested
on the date of grant, and the number of RSUs subject to such award will be equal to (x) the dollar value of 50% of the total amount of such bonus, divided by (y)
the average of the daily volume weighted average prices (the “VWAP”) of the Company’s common stock for all of the trading days during the 30 calendar day
period ending on (and including) the last trading day immediately prior to the grant date of such award, rounded down to the nearest whole share. The issuance
of any shares pursuant to such RSU awards will occur on the earlier of (i) the third anniversary of the date of grant of such RSU award, (ii) a Plan Participant’s
separation from service or (iii) a change of control.
In the event that any Plan Participant’s employment with the Company is terminated in certain circumstances as provided in a written agreement between
the Company and such Plan Participant, as applicable, such terminated individual will be entitled to payment of an amount under the Amended Bonus Plan for a
portion of the year in which such termination occurs. In order to calculate such amount, the Compensation Committee will first determine the Total Net Gain for
the portion of the year prior to such individual’s termination (which Total Net Gain will be determined in the same manner as described above based on the
actual revenues or other income of the Company (including sales or other dispositions of assets) during such partial year period; provided, however, that the
amount of administrative expenses for such portion of the year will be prorated based on the Compensation Committee’s estimate of the total amount of
administrative expenses for such year) (such amount, the “Pro Rata Net Gain”). Second, the Pro Rata Net Gain is multiplied by an adjustment factor which is the
greater of (i) a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of cash distributed (or committed to be distributed) to the Company’s shareholders in connection
with the Company’s sale (or other disposition) of assets during such portion of the year, and the denominator of which is the total amount of cash received for
which all assets were sold (or otherwise disposed of) during such portion of the year, or (ii) such percentage (not to exceed 100%) as the Compensation
Committee determines in its sole discretion to utilize as the Adjustment Factor. The resulting amount is multiplied by 8.75% to arrive at the “Termination Bonus
Pool.” In the event that any Plan Participant is entitled to payment of an amount under the Amended Bonus Plan for the portion of the year in which such
individual’s termination occurs, such amount will be paid in the form of cash and will be equal to a percentage of the Termination Bonus Pool corresponding to
such individual’s allocated percentage of the Bonus Pool.
Under the terms of the Amended Bonus Plan the Company accrued $783,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019.There was no compensation earned
under the Amended Bonus Plan for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Severance Compensation
In connection with the execution of a transition agreement with the Company’s former Chief Financial Officer, the company paid $1,023,000 of severance
benefits during the year ended December 31, 2019.

12.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During 2015, the Company sold substantially all of the assets used in its agribusiness segment. The Company has guaranteed up to $8 million for any
indemnification claims and will remain in force until July 31, 2020. The guaranty has been recorded at estimated fair value that reflects the Company’s
expectation that no significant amounts will be paid out under the guaranty. However, any amounts paid by the Company in excess of the estimate will result in
additional loss on the sale.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
These include controls and procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including
its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management, with the participation
of the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers, evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019.
Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2019.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act). The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and
includes those policies and procedures that:
•

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets;

•

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and

•

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.
Management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, management, with the
participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that, as of December 31, 2019, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting was effective based on the COSO criteria (2013).
Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements included in this
Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended
December 31, 2019, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
PICO Holdings, Inc.
Carson City, Nevada
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of PICO Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the Company and our report dated March 12, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Las Vegas, Nevada
March 12, 2020
54

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this item regarding directors will be set forth in the section headed “Election of Directors” in our definitive proxy statement with
respect to our 2020 annual meeting of shareholders (the “ 2020 proxy statement”), to be filed on or before April 30, 2020 and is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this item regarding the Company’s code of ethics will be set forth in the section headed “Code of Ethics” in the 2020 proxy statement
and is incorporated herein by reference. Information regarding executive officers is set forth in Item 1 of Part 1 of this Report under the caption “Executive
Officers.” Other information required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed “Corporate Governance” and “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports ” in the
2020 proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item will be set forth in the section headed “Executive Compensation and Related Information” in the 2020 proxy statement
and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT, AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in the 2020 proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this item will be set forth in the section headed “Certain Relationships and Related Persons Transactions” and “Compensation
Committee, Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the 2020 proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees” and “Audit Committee
Pre-Approval Policy” in the 2020 proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) FINANCIAL SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS
1. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
3.3

Description
Certificate of Incorporation of PICO Holdings, Inc. (2)
Bylaws of PICO Holdings, Inc. (2)
Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of PICO Holdings, Inc.

(3)

10.3†
10.4

Section 382 Rights Agreement, dated as of July 24, 2017, by and between PICO Holdings, Inc. and Computershare Trust Company N.A. (3)
PICO Holdings, Inc. Stock Certificate. (4)
Description of Securities (12)
Guaranty, dated July 31, 2015, between PICO Holdings, Inc. and CHS Hallock, LLC. (6)
PICO Holdings, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, Stock Option Grant Notice, Stock Option Award Agreement, Stock Option Notice of Exercise,
Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice, Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, and Restricted Stock Deferral Election Form. (7)
Transition Agreement by and between PICO Holdings, Inc. and John T. Perri, dated August 6, 2018, as amended. (5)
Infrastructure Dedication Agreement between Fish Springs Ranch, LLC, and Washoe County, Nevada dated October 16, 2007. (10)

10.5†
10.6†
10.7†
10.8†
10.9†

Employment Agreement, dated August 8, 2018, by and between PICO Holdings, Inc. and Maxim C.W. Webb. (1)
Employment Agreement, dated December 14, 2016, by and between PICO Holdings, Inc. and John T. Perri. (9)
Employment Agreement, dated August 8, 2018, by and between PICO Holdings, Inc. and Dorothy Timian-Palmer.
PICO Holdings, Inc. Amended and Restated Executive Bonus Plan. (1)
PICO Holdings, Inc. Amended and Restated Nonemployee Director Compensation Policy (8)

4.1
4.2
4.3
10.1
10.2†

10.10
10.11†
21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1

(1)

Form of Indemnity Agreement with directors and executive officers of PICO Holdings, Inc. and each of its subsidiaries. (4)
Directorship Letter Agreement with Eric Speron dated December 18, 2015. (11)
Subsidiaries of PICO Holdings, Inc.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm - Deloitte & Touche LLP.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

†
(1)

Indicates compensatory plan, contract or arrangement in which directors or executive officers may participate.
Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 8, 2018.
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Exhibit
Number
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)

Description
Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 1, 2017.
Incorporated by reference to Form 8-A filed with the SEC on July 24, 2017.
Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2017.
Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 14, 2019
Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 6, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 10, 2014.
Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 3, 2019.
Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 15, 2016.
Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 7, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 22, 2015.
Incorporated by reference to Form S-3 filed with the SEC on November 14, 2014.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Date:

March 12, 2020

PICO Holdings, Inc.

By: /s/ Dorothy A. Timian-Pamer
Dorothy A. Timian-Palmer
Chief Executive Officer and President
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below on March 12, 2020 by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated.
/s/ Dorothy A. Timian-Palmer
Dorothy A. Timian-Palmer
/s/ Maxim C.W. Webb

Chief Executive Officer and President, and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Maxim. C.W. Webb

Executive Chairman, Chief Financial Officer, and Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Gregory E. Bylinsky

Director

Gregory E. Bylinsky
/s/ Eric H. Speron

Director

Eric H. Speron
/s/ Nicole L. Weymouth

Director

Nicole L. Weymouth
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Subsidiaries of Registrant

Exhibit 21.1
Name of Subsidiary

Fish Springs Ranch, LLC
Nevada Land and Resource Holdings, Inc.
Vidler Water Company, Inc.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation/Organization
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-141321, 333-134296, and 333-125362 on Form S-3 and Registration
Statement Nos. 333-198065 on Form S-8 of our reports dated March 12, 2020, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedules of PICO Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”), and the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, appearing in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Las Vegas, Nevada
March 12, 2020

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Dorothy Timian-Palmer, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of PICO Holdings, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: March 12, 2020
/s/ Dorothy Timian-Palmer
Dorothy Timian-Palmer
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Maxim C.W. Webb, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of PICO Holdings, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2020
/s/ Maxim C.W. Webb
Maxim C.W. Webb
Executive Chairman and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)
In connection with the Annual Report of PICO Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Dorothy Timian-Palmer, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”), that to the best of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with requirements of section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 12, 2020
/s/ Dorothy Timian-Palmer
Dorothy Timian-Palmer
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)
In connection with the Annual Report of PICO Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John T. Perri, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”), that to the best of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with requirements of section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 12, 2020
/s/ Maxim C.W. Webb
Maxim C.W. Webb
Executive Chairman and Chief Financial Officer

